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Licensing Sub-Committee

Tuesday 27 October 2015 at 10.00 am

To be held at the Town Hall, Pinstone
Street, Sheffield, S1 2HH

The Press and Public are Welcome to Attend

Membership

Councillors Geoff Smith (Chair), Josie Paszek and Vickie Priestley
Zoe Sykes (Reserve)

Sheffield

City Council




PUBLIC ACCESS TO THE MEETING

The Licensing Committee carries out a statutory licensing role, including licensing for
taxis and public entertainment.

As a lot of the work of this Committee deals with individual cases, some meetings
may not be open to members of the public.

Recording is allowed at Licensing Committee meetings under the direction of the
Chair of the meeting. Please see the website or contact Democratic Services for
details of the Council’s protocol on audio/visual recording and photography at council
meetings.

A copy of the agenda and reports is available on the Council's website at
www.sheffield.gov.uk. You can also see the reports to be discussed at the meeting if
you call at the First Point Reception, Town Hall, Pinstone Street entrance. The
Reception is open between 9.00 am and 5.00 pm, Monday to Thursday and between
9.00 am and 4.45 pm. on Friday.

You may not be allowed to see some reports because they contain confidential
information. These items are usually marked * on the agenda.

If you require any further information please contact Harry Clarke on 0114 273 6183
or email harry.clarke@sheffield.gov.uk.

FACILITIES

There are public toilets available, with wheelchair access, on the ground floor of the
Town Hall. Induction loop facilities are available in meeting rooms.

Access for people with mobility difficulties can be obtained through the ramp on the
side to the main Town Hall entrance.



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE AGENDA
27 OCTOBER 2015

Order of Business

Welcome and Housekeeping Arrangements
Apologies for Absence

Exclusion of Public and Press

To identify items where resolutions may be moved to exclude the press and
public

Declarations of Interest

Members to declare any interests they have in the business to be considered
at the meeting

Commons Act 2006 - Application to Register "Smithy Wood" as Town
or Village Green
Report of the Chief Licensing Officer
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Agenda ltem 4

ADVICE TO MEMBERS ON DECLARING INTERESTS AT MEETINGS

If you are present at a meeting of the Council, of its executive or any committee of
the executive, or of any committee, sub-committee, joint committee, or joint sub-
committee of the authority, and you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI)
relating to any business that will be considered at the meeting, you must not:

. participate in any discussion of the business at the meeting, or if you become
aware of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the meeting, participate
further in any discussion of the business, or

o participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting.

These prohibitions apply to any form of participation, including speaking as a
member of the public.

You must:

J leave the room (in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct)

. make a verbal declaration of the existence and nature of any DPI at any
meeting at which you are present at which an item of business which affects or
relates to the subject matter of that interest is under consideration, at or before
the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest becomes
apparent.

. declare it to the meeting and notify the Council’'s Monitoring Officer within 28
days, if the DPI is not already registered.

If you have any of the following pecuniary interests, they are your disclosable
pecuniary interests under the new national rules. You have a pecuniary interest if
you, or your spouse or civil partner, have a pecuniary interest.

e Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain,
which you, or your spouse or civil partner undertakes.

¢ Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from your
council or authority) made or provided within the relevant period* in respect of
any expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards
your election expenses. This includes any payment or financial benefit from a
trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations
(Consolidation) Act 1992.

*The relevant period is the 12 months ending on the day when you tell the
Monitoring Officer about your disclosable pecuniary interests.

e Any contract which is made between you, or your spouse or your civil partner (or
a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a beneficial
interest) and your council or authority —

under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be

executed; and
which has not been fully discharged.
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¢ Any benéeficial interest in land which you, or your spouse or your civil partner,
have and which is within the area of your council or authority.

¢ Any licence (alone or jointly with others) which you, or your spouse or your civil
partner, holds to occupy land in the area of your council or authority for a month
or longer.

e Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) —
the landlord is your council or authority; and
the tenant is a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a
beneficial interest.

¢ Any beneficial interest which you, or your spouse or your civil partner has in
securities of a body where -

(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of
your council or authority; and

(b) either -
- the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or
if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal
value of the shares of any one class in which you, or your spouse or your
civil partner, has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total
issued share capital of that class.

If you attend a meeting at which any item of business is to be considered and you
are aware that you have a personal interest in the matter which does not amount to
a DPI, you must make verbal declaration of the existence and nature of that interest
at or before the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest
becomes apparent. You should leave the room if your continued presence is
incompatible with the 7 Principles of Public Life (selflessness; integrity; objectivity;
accountability; openness; honesty; and leadership).

You have a personal interest where —

e adecision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting
the well-being or financial standing (including interests in land and easements
over land) of you or a member of your family or a person or an organisation with
whom you have a close association to a greater extent than it would affect the
majority of the Council Tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward or
electoral area for which you have been elected or otherwise of the Authority’s
administrative area, or

e itrelates to oris likely to affect any of the interests that are defined as DPIs but

are in respect of a member of your family (other than a partner) or a person with
whom you have a close association.
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Guidance on declarations of interest, incorporating regulations published by the
Government in relation to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, has been circulated to
you previously.

You should identify any potential interest you may have relating to business to be
considered at the meeting. This will help you and anyone that you ask for advice to
fully consider all the circumstances before deciding what action you should take.

In certain circumstances the Council may grant a dispensation to permit a Member
to take part in the business of the Authority even if the member has a Disclosable
Pecuniary Interest relating to that business.

To obtain a dispensation, you must write to the Monitoring Officer at least 48 hours
before the meeting in question, explaining why a dispensation is sought and
desirable, and specifying the period of time for which it is sought. The Monitoring
Officer may consult with the Independent Person or the Council’'s Standards
Committee in relation to a request for dispensation.

Further advice can be obtained from Gillian Duckworth, Director of Legal and
Governance on 0114 2734018 or email gillian.duckworth@sheffield.gov.uk.
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Agenda Item 5

Sheffield  sHEFFIELD CITY COUNCIL

City Council

Committee Report

Report of: Chief Licensing Officer, Head of Licensing on behalf of the
Registration Authority

Date: 27" October 2015 — 10am

Subject: Commons Act 2006

Application to register land known as ‘Smithy Wood’,
Sheffield as a Town or Village Green

Author of Report: Shimla Finch - 2734264

Summary: To consider an application made under the Commons Act
2006 for land known as ‘Smithy Wood’, Sheffield to be
registered as a Town or Village Green.

The Council held a non-statutory public inquiry chaired by

an independent Inspector who considered the application

and reported to the Council. The Licensing Sub -Committee is
invited to consider the report of the independent Inspector

and determine whether the above land should be registered as
a Town or Village Green.

Recommendations: Members are recommended to accept the recommendations in
the Inspector’s report and to determine that the application to
register land at ‘Smithy Wood’, Sheffield as a Town and Village
Green, be refused, because the applicant has failed to satisfy
the statutory criteria contained in section 15(2) of the 2006 Act.

Background Papers: Inspectors Report — attached to this report
Bundles provided at the Inquiry will be available for Members
at the Town Hall
(Any further background papers relating to this report can be
inspected by contacting the report writer).

Category of Report: OPEN
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REPORT OF THE CHIEF LICENSING OFFICER, HEAD OF LICENSING TO
THE LICENSING COMMITTEE (COMMONS REGISTRATION)

Ref: 75/15
COMMONS ACT 2006

Application to register land known as ‘Smithy Wood’, Sheffield as a Town or Village
Green

1.0 Purpose of the report

1.1 To consider an application made under the Commons Act 2006 for land known as
‘Smith Wood’ Sheffield to be registered as a Town or Village Green.

1.2  The Council held a non-statutory public inquiry chaired by an independent Inspector
who considered the application and reported to the Council.

1.3 The Licensing Sub-Committee is invited to consider the report of the independent
Inspector Mr Richard Ground, Barrister, Conerstone Barristers and determine
whether the application satisfies the statutory criteria for registration as Town or
Village Green and should be included in the register.

2.0 The Legislation

2.1 Town and village greens developed under customary law. These were areas of open
space, more commonly called “greens”, which had been used by local people, for
lawful sports and other pastimes for many years and which came to be recognised
and protected by the courts. These areas of open space might include organised or
informal games, picnics, fetes, dog walking and similar activities.

2.2 A green can be in private ownership or owned or maintained by town and parish
councils.

2.3 These areas of open space or greens can now be protected by making an application
for registration as a “town or village green” under Section 15 of the Commons Act
2006 (the “Act”).

2.4  Section 4(1) of the Act provides that applications for registering land as “town or
village greens” must be made to Sheffield City Council, who is the Commons
Registration Authority (CRA) for any land in their area.

2.5 Section 15(1) of the Act states that ‘any person may apply to the CRA to register land
as a “town or village green” provided they can establish one of the following tests,
namely:

e that Section 15(2) applies if the land has been used ‘as of right’ for lawful
sports and pastimes for 20 years or more before the date the application is
made, and this use continues at the date of the application; or

o that Section 15(3) applies where the land has been used for lawful sports and

pastimes ‘as of right’ for 20 years or more, where the use ended after 6 April
2007, no more than one year before the date of the application, or
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3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

o that Section 15(4) applies where the land has been used for lawful sports and
pastimes ‘as of right’ for 20 years and has ended before 6 April 2007. Further,
the application must be made within five years of the date the use ‘as of right’
ended.

Whether the application is made under Sections 15(2), 15(3) or 15(4) the application
must show that a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality of any
neighbourhood within a locality have indulged in lawful sports or pastimes ‘as of right’
(i.e. without permission, force or secrecy) on the land for at least 20 years, rather
than ‘by right’ (i.e. in exercise of a legal right to do so). These requirements reflect the
ancient law of custom, where long use ‘as of right’ created a presumption that the
local inhabitants had established recreational rights over the land in question.

Section 15(6) of the Act makes it clear that in determining the 20 year period, there
is to be disregarded any period during which access to the land was prohibited to
members of the public by reason of any enactment.

Furthermore, Section 15(7) of the Act provided that in respect of subsection (2)(b)
that —

(a) where persons indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes immediately
before access to the land is prohibited (as specified in subsection 6 above),
those persons are to be regarded as continuing so to indulge; and

(b) where permission is granted in respect of use of the land for the purposes of
lawful sports and pastimes, the permission is to be disregarded in determining
whether persons continue to indulge in lawful sports and pastimes on the land
“as of right”.

The current application has been made under Section 15(2).
Background

The Council received an application to register land known as ‘Smithy Wood’,
Sheffield as a town/village green on the 14" November 2013. The original application
Form 44 and plan is attached at Appendix ‘A’.

On the 25" September 2014, the Licensing Sub-Committee (Commons Registration)
considered a report concerning the above application and determined that in view of
all the circumstances outlined, a non-statutory public inquiry should be held with a
view to undertaking a further and more detailed examination of the issues raised and
evidence submitted by the applicant and the objectors.

Mr Richard Ground, a barrister with experience of village green registration matters,
was appointed as Inspector in relation to the non-statutory public inquiry and to
produce and report with recommendations. The inquiry was held over five days,
namely between 14", 15" 16™ 17" and 23™ April 2015.

The applicant and objectors were informed of the non-statutory public inquiry.

The full report of the Inspector is attached at Appendix ‘B’. The report sets out the
law; the evidence heard and recommendations.

The Inspectors report was circulated to the applicant and objectors for any
comments. Minor amendments hqm:a@enTnade to the report following the objector’s
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comments which are incorporated in the report attached at Appendix ‘B’. A copy of
the objectors and applicants comments are attached at Appendix ‘C’.

The Inspector has provided a response to the applicant's comments which are at
Appendix ‘D’ and concludes that the comments have not changed the finding of his
report.

Members determining this application have been provided access to bundles of the
Public Inquiry including closing submissions.

The Council cannot delegate the decision making process to the independent
Inspector as the decision is for the Council and under part 3 of the Council’s
Constitution the function of the Licensing Sub-Committee (Commons Registration)
include determining village green applications. It should be emphasised that the
Inspector’'s recommendations are not binding on the Sub-Committee, and the Sub-
Committee must consider the Inspectors report and decide whether it agrees with the
Inspector’s conclusions on the key issues. However where the Sub-Committee
decided not to follow the report’'s recommendations it would need to provide detailed
reasons for not doing so.

The Inspector’s Report

In the report the Inspector makes clear that the burden of proof of satisfying each
element of the statutory criteria rests with the Applicant.

The application seeks the registration of the Land by virtue of the operation of section
15(2) of the 2006 Act. Under that provision, land is to be registered as a town or
village green where:-

“(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any neighbourhood
within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes on the
land for a period of at least 20 years; and

(b) they continue to do so at the time of the application.”

The Inspector has indicated the following issues to be critical in this case:
i) The meaning of locality and neighbourhood within a locality.
i)  The test for the quality of user required to satisfy the statutory test.

iii)  The meaning of significant number

The inspector also makes clear that there is no dispute with the relevant period in this
case, the relevant period being 14™ November 1993 to 14" November 2013.

Locality and Neighbourhood

The inspector has detailed in paragraph 5 of his report the law relating to locality and
neighbourhood and how it applies to this case.

The inspector is satisfied on the basis of evidence provided and application of the law
that the applicant can rely on the ‘Civil Parish of Ecclesfield’ being a ‘locality’.

Paragraphs 5.17 to 5.23 of the Inspectors report details the criteria of a
‘neighbourhood’ and has accepted that ‘Cowley Estate’ is a ‘neighbourhood’ within
the ‘locality’ of the ‘Civil Parish of ﬁ@@@flgd
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Lawful Sports and Pastimes

The Inspector considered in detail, with reference to relevant case, the use of the
land and in particular footpath use. A central issue was whether the evidence of
footpath use constitutes the assertion of a public right-of-way against an assertion of
a right to use the land for lawful sport and pastimes. Where the use asserts a public
right of way this use may be discounted when deciding the issue of whether a
significant number of inhabitants of a locality have indulged as a right in lawful sports
and pastimes.

The inspector has discussed the distinction between lawful sports and pastimes and
footpath use through paragraph 6.2 to 6.30 of his report whilst applying the law to this
case.

The Inspector concluded that the vast majority of the use of the land was footpath
use and should be discounted before considering whether there are a significant
number of users or a sufficient quality of user.

Significant Number and Quality of User

The law on significant number and the test for the quality of user has been applied to
the facts of this case in paragraphs 7 to 7.17 of the Inspectors report.

The Inspector, when considering all the evidence, did not consider the use of

Smithy Wood was very great. At paragraphs 7.6 -7.10, he details the issues that led
him to this conclusion. He further advised that when the non-neighbourhood use,
footpath type use and none legal use is stripped out, what is left is trivial and
sporadic and not significant in number.

He went on include that the use of Smithy Wood was insufficient to indicate that it
was in general use by the local community for informal recreation. The use was not
such an amount or in such a manner, as would reasonably be regarded as the
assertion of a public right. Therefore the use fails the test for significant number in
section 15 of the Commons Act 2006.

Inspectors Conclusion and Recommendation

The Inspector recommends to the Registration Authority to refuse this application for
a village green on the basis that the use has not been by a significant number of
inhabitants of the neighbourhood and is insufficient to pass the test set out in Redcar
(R (Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council [2010] 2 AC 70).

The Inspector also takes the view that Cowley Estate is a neighbourhood within a
locality within the meaning of section 15 of the Commons Act 2006.

Legal Implications

The Council must determine the application in accordance with the statutory criteria,
set out in paragraph 2 of this report. The Sub-Committee are required to carefully
consider the report of the Independent Inspector which sets out the law, the evidence
and his recommendations and the Sub-Committee must determine the application.
As discussed elsewhere in this report, the Sub-Committee must decide the
application themselves and are not bound by the inspector’s recommendations.
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This is a quasi-judicial process and consequently Members sitting on the Sub-
Committee must consider whether they have an interest that should be declared and
where an interest is declared, consideration must be given as to whether they may
take part in the decision making process.

Registration of the village green does not place the Council under any duty to
maintain it.

Risk Management

There is no right of appeal against the Council’s decision but interested parties could
challenge the decision by applying for Judicial Review. A failure to determine the
application in accordance with the law or at all will leave the Council exposed to a
Judicial Review or a claim of maladministration by the Local Government
Ombudsman.

Financial Implications

Significant costs have been incurred in undertaking the Independent Public Inquiry.

Members should note that if an interested party challenges the Sub-Committee’s
decision legal costs, which may be significant, may be incurred by the Council.

Recommendation

Members are recommended to accept the recommendations in the Inspector’s report
and to determine that the application to register land at ‘Smithy Wood’, Sheffield as a
Town and Village Green, be refused, because the applicant has failed to satisfy the
statutory criteria contained in section 15(2) of the 2006 Act.

Options Open to the Commons Registration Board

Accept the Inspectors recommendations and refuse the application.

Not accept the Inspectors recommendations and grant the application in full or in part
and register the land as a Town or Village Green.

Stephen Lonnia,

Chief Licensing Officer

Head of Licensing

Business Strategy and Regulation

Place Portfolio

Block C, Staniforth Road Depot

Sheffield, S9 3HD. 16" September 2016
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Application and Plan
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LICENSING

1 & NOV 2013

scHEpULE | SERVICEQudine

Forms

Form 44
Commons Act 2006: Section 15

Application for the registration of land as a Town or
Village Green

Application number; LLIC 11013 [vq o I

Register unit No(s): [ ]

VG number allocated at registration:

AUTHORITY

(CRA to complete only if application is successlul)

Applicants are advised to read the *Guidance Notes for the completion of an Application for the
registration of land as a Town or Village Green® and to note the following:

»  Allapplicants should complete questions o 6 and 10 and 11.

w  Applicants applying (or registration under seetion 1301) of the 2006 Act should, in addition.
complete guestions 7 and 8 as appropriate. Section 13(1) enables any person 1o apply 1o register
land as a green where the eriteria for registration in section 13(2), (3) or (4) apply.

o Applicants applying for the voluntary registration under seetion 13(8) should, in addition,
complete guestion 9,

1. Registration Authority

Note | To the .

Insert name of ~ ‘ e u,\
) - =

registration = ‘1—5}( Q\d Ck{g Lp )

oy Nicensing Sechon

Block ¢, S tam{ortl Read )epcﬁ’ S93#D
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CERTIFIED A TRUE COPY- WELSII MINISTERS- HYWEL AP DAFYDD- 13/08:2007

Note 2

It there is more than
one appficant, st all
names. Please use o
separate sheet if
necessary. State the
Jult title of the
organisation if a body
('(JI'P(J‘THL‘ L
nhincorporate.

I question 3 iy not
conpleted ull
correspaindence and
notices will seni o
the firsr nened
applican.

Note 3

Tirls question showudd
be complered if o
solicitor ic instricted
Jor the purposes of the
applicarion. If so. afl
correspnidence and
notives witl be sent 10
the person or firm
numed here

2. Name and addvess of the applicant

Name:

[Cowred Resipants Acnod Geoo?|

Full postat address:

| 31, Grenwoep  CRESCENT,
CIHAPELTOWN |
SHEFFIED

Postcode S3S 1HU

Telephone mumber:

{inet. national dialling cadey ‘ o] ) l+ 9—"'“ QSO gL

Fax Number:
incl. national didling code) L

E-mail address: ‘ Jecu’\\'\ qq9q @ aol-om

3. Name and address of solicitor, if any

Names

-iem:

Full postal address:

Posteode

Telephone number:
finck national dialling code)

Fax Number:
(et mational dialling codey

1--mail address: [
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Note 4

For firther advice on
the criteria and
guaifving dotes for
regisiration please see
section 4 of the
Greldanee Newes.

* Section 1361
enabley any peviod of
stantory elosire
where aceess 1o the

lend is denied 0 he
disregarded in
determining the 2t
rear period

4. Basis of application for registeation and qualifying criteria

If you are the landovwner and are seeking volumtarily to register your land
please tick this box and move w question 3,

Application made under section 15(8); I:'

If the application is made under section 15(1) of the Act. please tick ene of
the following boxes to indicate which particular subsection and qualifying
criterion applics to the casc.

Scetion 15(2) applies:

Section 15(3) applies:

]

L]

Scction 15(4) applies:

If section F3{3) or (4) applies, please indicate the date on which you consider
thatt use 1y of right ended.

It section 15(6)7 applics please indicate the period of statutory closure (if
uny) whivh needs w be disregarded.
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Note 5

The accompanying
meyr amst be ol o
seerfe of et least
1:2.300 and show the
tand by distinctive
colouring to enable
ir 1o he clearl:
fddentifivd.

AOnh complee if the
fenref is already
regiviered as commion
Iumf.

Note 6

It ey be posxible 1o
huficare the localin off
the grevn by refercice
i€ ean aedministeative
aredt. skl as thar of o
cOomMUIne or fown
comitcil. electoral ward
or other area
sufficienly defined by
name (suclr as o villase
ar street). I this is

Het possible, o
should he provided on
whivh a localing or
neighbanrhood is
marked cleariy.

5. Description and particalars of the arvea of land in respect of which
application for registiption is made

Name by which usually known:

SMITHY  WooD

Location:

Adycb.m o Ml qt Jonchion 35 wdde
CGu'_‘)‘ELLj Hd -

Shoswn i colour on the map which is marked and attached o the stawtory
declaration.

Common Land register ini number (1 relevant) *

6. Lovabity or neighbourbood within a loeality in respeet of which the
application is made

Please show the focality or neighbourhood within the Tocality 1o which the
claimed green velates, cither by writing the administrative arca or
geographical arca by nmme betosw, or by attaching a map on which the area
is clearby marked:

Cowl%j Vied  Estale C‘r\q‘)e,\bm, She_,gg;eﬁ

Tick here it map attached:

Page 15




Note 7

Applicants shonld
provide a sunmmary of
the case for
registration here and
enelose a separate full

stetement and all other
evidence including any

wwitness statements in
stipport of the
application.

This information is hot
necded if e landmrier
is applving (o regisier
the land as a green
wnder seciion 13(5).

7. Justification for application to register the land as » town or village
aveen

Reycr fo PO\ﬁQ.I cg Appl(cahém
Iabter-
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Note 8 8. Name and address of every person whom the applicant helieves to be
Plecise use a separate | an owher, lessee, tenant or occupier of any part of the land claimed to
sheer if noevssart. be a town or village gyeen

Where relevant inchide
reference to title ( A

numbers in the regiseer N?. bi\i(‘,\w, H‘e d bdon(jb b « i)'br\,r?
af title frield by the

Lond Regi.wi;.r. Comy ‘)C‘u’\ j C‘CLqu -S’( ?llhl &Jdol) ments .

I no one has been
identified i this
secifort vot should
write “none .

Thix informetion is not
neeided [ a fandovaer
i applying ro regisier
the land as 4 green
tineder section 1518,

9. Voluntary registration - declarations of consent from *relevant
leascholder”, and of the preprietor of any *relevant charge’ over the
land

Nute 9

List afl such
deelararions thar
accompeny the
applicution. lf none iy
reguired write “inone”.

This infurmation is noi
needed if o
application is being
maede fo regixier the
fanie us o green wider
svction 1301,

10. Supporting decumentation

Note 10. - MQP | - Smnﬂ\ﬂml‘\)ccc\

List all supporiing
documents and maps

wecompanying the H LLP Ao~ C qb“j
application, {f none,
. io Pho m])hg OS (S..CCC“CU\C\

write “none”

Pleaxe use a separene {5- QL{E Cnndufes

shea!t if necessary. ’ . N
- [ lebbers or encds
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Nate 11 11, Any other inforntation relating to the application
If there are any other
matiers which should .
be brought 1o the "n\e CWEner mou th,ll@(\ e -H\e G ‘lCQ‘kou
atrenrion of the C\.j 3 P‘P
registration anthorin
fin prartivalar if a
person interested in
the et iy expected 1o . l ck .
challenge ife the “n
applicearion for
regisiration.

and EXTRA alse have an inkerest i

Full details should be
given here or on a
seperreie sheet if necessary.

Note 12 Date: I e 1 E

The application st
be sivned by vach
inclividued applicant. or

Ay the anthoriyed Stgnatures:
officer of an applicant s
whivh is o body 1eGaN s @ H’(%

COFIOrAae OF | ¢ (ChCUI’ C:S, CRQ’CLB

HHRCOrporare.

REMINDER TO APPLICANT

You are advised to keep a copy of the application and all asseciated documentation,
Applicants should be awave that signature of the stntutory decluration s 1 sworn statcment
of truth in preseating the application and sccompanying evidence, ‘The malkdng of a talse
statement for the purposes of this application may render the maler Hiahle to prosecutin.

Dutg Pragection Act 1998

The upphicativn oed any represeniotions mucke Gt e treated o confidential. To depe e v
application it will he nocessen v for the regivieation verhorstye 1o divelose information received from
e tw others, which nuny imclede other focol autimritios, Government Departiments, pubhic hogdes mher

ovtainisalions wnd sembiers of the pul'h'r
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Statutory Declaration in Support

Y Insert full e
tand address il not
given i the
application form).

2 Delere and cecdegn
N L UNS e

3 Invert name if
applicable.

4 Complote ondy in
the case of
voluntary
regisirarion iswike
thrangh [ His is not
relevant),

Ta be made by the applicant, or by one of the applicants, or by the
applicant’s or applicants” solicitor, or. it the applicant is a body corporate o
unincomorated, by its solivitor, or by the person who signed the application.

Loviiincnveenen e Usolemnly and sincerely declare as follows:

E.2 L am ((the person {onealthe parsonsy who (has) (dwreed signed

the toregoing application}) = T ; “the

2. The Facts set out in the application form are 1o the best of my
knowledye and beliel Tully and wudy stated and Tam not aware of any
other fact which shoufd be brought 10 the atiention of the registration
aunthority as Likely 1o affect its decision on this application. nor of any
doctiment relating to the matier other than those (i any ) mentioned in
Parts 10 and 11 ol the applieation.

3. The map now produced as part of this declaration is the map
relerred 10 in Part 3 of the application,

4. ‘ I hereby apply under section 13(8) ol (the Commons Act 2006 10
rewister as a green the land indicated on the map and that is in my
ownership, Thave provided the foHow ing necessaey declarations of
consent :

(i) a decturation of ovwnership of the tand:

(i) w eleckaration B allb necessary cotzants from twe releyant
feaseholder or proprictor of any reles ant charge over the land have

Cont?
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Continued

been received and are exhibited with this declaration; or
(iiy where no such consents are required. a declaration to that cifeet.

And [ make this solenn declaration, conseientiously belicy ing the
same to be true, and by virtue of the Statutory Yeclaralions Act 1835,

Declared by the said
TEAR LAy Woud s o M. Howe -
at o (v Apetiey fu SAY) ignature uf Declarant
—_ )
AN AN RN :
this i\-(\ﬁ day of paouedie e

Refore me*

Signature: ’_%/”k

SR DS T TN G

Address :

Qualication :
pe . e
AR ey (N

* The statutory declaration must be made before a justice of the peace, practising
solicitor, commissioner for oaths or notary public,

Stgnature of the statntory declaration is a sworn statement of trath in presenting the
apphication and accompanyving evidence,

RENMINDER TO OFFICER TAKING DECLARATION:

initied ol altcrations_and mark any map as an exhibin

£l
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Cowley Residents Action Group (CRAG) - Application for the
claim of Smithy Wood as a Village Green.

Summary - See Question 7 of Form 44 attached.

Attached please find an application under Section 15(1) of the Commons Act 2006,
claiming Smithy Wood, near Chapeltown, Sheffield, as a Village Green.

A significant number of residents from the local area have been using Smithy Wood continuously for at least the last
20 years, and continue to do so as of today's date. They have used the wood for various forms of recreation, and
have done so as of right. Cowley Residents Action Group have acted on behalf of local residents to collect the
required evidence of recreational use, and are submitting this application on behalf of residents from the locality /
neighbourhood in the locality, shown on the map included with this application.

We believe that we have met all the criteria stipulated under Section 15.2, and on that basis, claim Smithy Wood as
our Village Green. We have included Form 44, copies of letters from residents, emails from residents, comments
made available to us by the Woodland Trust from people who have shared their memories of Smithy Wood, and
copies of photographs taken by local people. We have included the necessary Ordinance Survey map identifying the
area under claim, and have attached it to Form 44. Also included are questionnaires completed by local people,
detailing their recreational use of Smithy Wood. Each questionnaire has two maps attached that allow respondents
to indicate information like where they access the woodland, any notices they have seen, any fencing that they know
to exist, and so on. They have also indicated where they live relative to the woodland. This information has been
plotted on Map in order to identify the 'locality' as defined in Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006. Sheffield
woodland expert Professor Mel Jones has graciously agreed that we can include his "SMITHY WOOD: A brief history
and an appraisal of the significance of the site" document with our application , as an informative document that
points out why Smithy Wood is special, not only to us. We wholeheartedly agree with his conclusions and add this to
our reasons for wanting to retain this area as our Village Green, it is our history.

We are submitting this application now, but are expecting to receive additional letters/questionnaires of evidence of
recreational use. They will be in the same format as those presented here and are not expected to materially change
our claim. We will present them in one additional submission within 2 weeks of submitting this application, so as to
limit the need to re-publicise the claim. While we agree that this is not ideal, it is necessary so as not to deprive
harder to reach users of their right to be heard on this matter.

Statement

Smithy Wood dates back to at least 1200AD. It is an Ancient Woodland with some very beautiful and irreplaceable
old trees. It lies adjacent to the M1 Motorway at Junction 35 with Cowley Hill. When you are in the Woodland it is so
peaceful that you would never know that you were so near a main road.
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Local people have used the woodland for recreation for well over 20 years, either frequently or less frequently, and
still use it today, hapefully for many years to come. There are several paths crossing the woodland and the area is
partly enclosed, although the fencing has not been maintained in many places. There is a fence separating the edges
from the motorway and the rest is wooden fencing, which goes part way down Cowley Hill. There is the remnant of a
gatepost, but no gate, where the fence ends. The rest of the woodland is not enclosed and there are no notices to
say that this is private land.

Below the woodland there is now a business park where Smithy Wood Coking Plant was situated untit 1972. When
the coking plant was working the workers often spent their break times wandering the woodland. Today many local
people use the woodiand for leisure. The questionnaires from local residents tell how they played in the woods as
children, hide and seek, building dens, nature trails, bug hunts, bike riding, bark rubbing and tracking, at afl times of
the year. They now have their own children and grandchildren who they take to Smithy Wood for exactly the same
pursuits and would like to continue doing so. There are some local walking groups who use the woodland and some
horse riders as well as local dog walkers. Many speak about the peace and tranquillity that they find there. One lady

went there after a bereavement exactly for that reason.

3
There are 15 guestionnaires from local families and )9: letters or emails from other families, out of a locality of

approximately 200.They have all, except three, used the land for at least 20 years, some of them since being children
in the 195('s and still use it today. | believe this is a significant amount of local residents who are all passionate
about keeping this woodland for future enjoyment. They have never been stopped from using the land. Local
residents are particularly passionate about Smithy Wood, because tens of thousands of trees have been felled at
Hesley Wood, on the other side of Cowley Hill, after planning permission was given last January, for a company to
open cast mine there. Our group was formed to fight that planning submission because we are all nature lovers. The
spoil heap had regenerated for 40 years and had an abundance of wildlife.

We were told by the planners that wildlife from Hesley Woods would move to the adjacent woodland. Many of the
birds, most noticeably three buzzards, now circle over Smithy Wood. We need to protect the wildlife that lives there
50 that no more of their habitat is iost in our area. Please help us to protect this irreplaceable, Ancient Woodland of
Smithy Wood frem any future development by granting our request to make Smithy Wood our village green, so that
it will be there for future generations to enjoy.
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Appendix ‘B’

Inspectors Report
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Application Number 2013/VG02
Smithy Wood Village Green Report

FINAL REPORT OF INSPECTOR RICHARD GROUND

CONTENTS

Section 1 Introduction and executive summary.

Section 2 Inquiry.

Section 3 Applicant’s evidence.

Section 4 Objector’s evidence.

Section 5 Law Generally.

Section 6 Locality and Neighbourhood law and conclusions.
Section 7 Lawful Sports and Pastimes/ Footpath use.
Section 8 Significant Number and Quality of User.

Section 9 Overall conclusions.

ABBREVIATIONS

The following abbreviations will be used.

AB = Applicant’s bundle.
OB = Objector’s bundle.
VG = Town or Village Green.
LSP = Lawful Sports and pastimes.
Final Report of Richard Ground August 2015doc.doc Page 1
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0.1

0.2

0.3

INTRODUCTION AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This is a report into an application dated 14 November 2013' to
register Smithy Wood as a town or village green (*IT'VG™) under
section 15(1) and (2) of Commons Act 2006. 1 was instructed by
Sheffield City Council to conduct the Inquiry and write a report with a

recommendation on this application.

The precise land that was applied to be registered was set out in
clarification map A”. It is just less than 20ha of land immediately west
of the M1 motorway close to junction 35. The Applicant, Cowley
Residents Action Group ("CRAG”) recognised that the land that was
Highway Land® and the land crossed by electricity pylons could not be
registered’. The Applicant relied upon the users coming from a
neighbourhood within a locality of the Cowley Estate shown on

Clarification Map B at tab 3 of their bundle.

For the reasons set out below I recommend that the Registration
Authority refuse this application for a TVG on the basis that the use
has not been by a significant number of inhabitants of the
neighbourhood and is insufficient to pass the test for quality of user set
out in Redear’. 1 take the view the Cowley Estate is a neighbourhood

within a locality within the meaning of section 15 Commons Act 2006.

" See Applicant’s Bundle [hereafter AB] tab |

*Tab 3 of AB

* Objector's Bundle [hereafter “OB™) at page!18

‘OB132a

> R (on the application of Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council [2010] 2 AC 70

Final Report of Richard Ground August 2015doc.doc Page 2
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1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

THE INQUIRY

The Inquiry sat for 5 of days of evidence and submissions on 14, 15,
16, 17 and 23 April. I conducted accompanied site visits on 13 April
and 23 April 2015 and viewed all the places that were requested to be

viewed and more.

The Applicant CRAG were represented by Mr Greaves of Counsel.
The Objector was the owner of the land Axis 1 Limited a wholly
owned subsidiary of St Paul’s Developments Plc. They were

represented by Mr Carter of Counsel.

At the outset I express my gratitude formally to both of the parties and
their barristers for the way that they conducted the Inquiry. The
submissions were helpful and to the point and concise correct
concessions were quickly given. The parties cooperated very well and

the witnesses were helpful to the Inquiry.

[ also express my gratitude to the Licensing team of Sheffield City
Council in particular Claire Bower who made all the arrangement for

the Inquiry and liaised with the parties.

[ apologise about the errors in spelling of some people’s names. 1 did
not want to slow down the Inquiry by stopping everyone to spell every
name that they gave in evidence. [ have done my best but apologise for

any errors. I do not mean to be disrespectful.

Final Report of Richard Giound August 2015doc doc Page 3
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2.1

2.2

23

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

APPLICANT’S EVIDENCE.
PAUL BRACKENBURY
Examination in chief

He produced a witness statement at pages 1-3 of the Applicant’s

bundle which he confirmed to be correct.
His son was born in 1989. His daughter in 1991.

He said his use started in about 1993/4. There were fences around the
edge of the motorway but on the north side of Application Site there
was a fence but no gates only the posts. At the lower end i.e. the
southern side of Application Site the youths used the site probably in
period when his son was about 10-15 i.e. 1999-2004.

The over bridge was demolished in 2006 there were no signs on there
saying don’t use until the demolition. He did not recail vehicles using

this over bridge after 1977 but he was not there during the week.

The route he went in was through Chapeltown Park and then through
Hesley Wood. In 1996 his kids used the site. He had sole charge on
Saturday of his kids because his wife worked. He said he would visit 2
or 3 times per month in summer time. The kids were at local schools.

The kids had quite a lot of friends on the estate.

"My boy started using Smithy Wood by himself from when he was
about 11 [2000].” His daughter went by herself at a similar age from
2002. He said he would discover from sitting around the dinner table

and having discussions.

Another family on the estate had children in the same school years, the

O’Neills. His daughter also had a Glenwood Crescent friend.

Final Repert of Richard Ground August 2015doc.doc Page 4
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2.8

2.9

2.10

2.11

2.12

2.13

2.14

2.15

His daughter went to Rotherham College in around 2007/8 and stopped
using Smithy Wood then. His daughter is now back at home studying

for a masters and his son comes back to visit with his grandchildren.

He could remember going in for a school project on local history with
each of his children. This would have been in around 1997 and then
1999. They looked at the Bell Pits on the site as part of local history.
His grandchildren were too young in the 1993-2013 period.

He was never prevented from using site 1993-2013.

He did remember the open cast mining and the reclamation. He
remembered the bridge being demolished and there was a crowd of 200
from the estate who went one evening about 10 pm. The demolition

never stopped him getting into the woodland.

He said he could not remember the fire in 1995: “I was working in
Doncaster and did not use often enough to see fire. Furthest south was

the fire and a little bit by the Pylons where it was less grown.”

He said he would occasionally bump into people from the estate. Some
he knew were from the estate that he saw were Mick Harrison and Jean
Williams with her dog. He said he had seen kids with push bikes.
There were certainly remains of tree houses which were on the Cowley

Hill side near the northern part of the woodland.

The motorised vehicles he heard more than saw. The motorised

vehicles had become more of a problem in the last couple of years.

In January 2013 Recycoal were granted planning permission and they
took the trees down in around February/March 2013. He had not
personally seen consultants in the wood but saw what appeared to be

unusual cars parked on Cowley Hill.

Final Report of Richard Ground August 201 5doc.doe Page 5
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2.16

2.17

2.18

2.19

2.20

2.21

2.22

2.23

2.24

2.25

Cross examination Paul Brackenbury.

He was deputy chair of CRAG.

Neighbourhood.

He was involved in the drawing of the boundaries.

He did not accept that the boundaries of the planning application drove

the village green application site.

Originally they drew the locality as the area where the questionnaires
came from. As the process went on they concentrated on Cowley

Estate.

He disagreed entirely that the Cowley Estate was not cohesive. In
terms of his questionnaire the neighbourhood watch was entirely in the
green neighbourhood area. The catchment of schools was larger than

the estate. None of the others facilities were just for the estate.

There were paths that people walked on some of which are shown on

the OS map page 132 of OB.
The page OB 155 map was not available to all.

When he and his family were on pushbikes he said they went where
they liked and sometimes got off the bikes. They did not go through
bushes. He said there had always been motor-cross bikes but it was
only in the last few years where there had been quad bikes and large

4x4s.

He agreed that there was open cast mining and backfilling remediation
work between 1991 and 1995 as said at page 81 of OB by Mr Newton.

This was substantial works as shown on the photo at OB 93.

For parts of this period the over bridge and underpass were not

available. This provided the youths with the impetus to find a way in.

Final Report of Richard Ground August 2013doc.doc Page 6
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2.26

2.27

2.28

2.29

2.30

2.31

2.32

2.33

2.34

This he said did not stop him getting access to the woodland.

In 1995/6 [OB 96] he would have got in in the far corner i.e. north east
near the motorway. The tracks in the Smithy Wood do not show up on

the aerial because it is dense greenery.

He was taken to the report on the fire [OB142/143] but did not
remember the fire. He did not go to the southern part of Smithy Wood
at that time. If he went to the wood at that time he would have stayed
in the northern corner as his children were 4 and 6 in 1995. He thought
the photos of the 1996 February fire at OB 145 were in the south part of

the site.

In 2006-2008 the only access was further up Cowley Hill there was not

access using the over bridge and underpass.

He accepted that Chapeltown Park was a used facility but there had
been damage. There used to be a bandstand and football which stopped

0 years ago.

He accepted that there was a lot of greenspace around Sheffield and

around the Application Site that can be used.

His son moved away in 2009 when his son had a daughter. His
daughter went to university in Huddersfield and came back in May
2013. He has not taken his granddaughter because she has special

needs and he had not taken her there during the relevant period.

There were remnants of fencing in various states of disrepair. There are

still some parts there which are in disrepair.

His bike rides with his children started in about 1995. In 1993/4 he
would go walking. The last time the three of them were on bikes was

2009.

Final Repont of Richard Ground August 2013doc doc Page 7
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2.35  The cycle trips, he said, were 2 or 3 times per month every month.
Winter time did not stop him.

2.36  The unaccompanied trips started when children were 11. They used it a
lot.

2.37  He said he was an engineering lecturer in Doncaster. Company director
in Doncaster. 5 years ago his wife was diagnosed with cancer.

2.38  The other family he mentioned who used it were Thomas Roy. His kids
were not involved in the tree houses.

2.39  He saw vehicles in the layby which were not car share so he thought
this was to do with surveys of the site. During this period (2013) for
the reasons above he did not use the site a lot. His wife was having
chemotherapy and his son was not there and had just had child.
Inspector guestions.

2.40  For early trips before 1996 he would take the car to Smithy Wood and
stay in the northern part.

2.41  For early bike trips around 1996 he would take them on a bike rack.
There were other places he would go as well with his two children.

2.42  He said his trips in 1991-2 were much less often. He said that 1991-5
was less frequent 1995 to about 2000 was more frequent accompanied
trips. From about 2000 his kids went alone.

Re-examination.

2.43  Plan on page 155 indicates paths at a snapshot in time. They are not
public rights of way. Some paths well trodden and others are not.

2.44  The only official path crosses the motorway south of Application Site.

Final Report of Richard Ground August 2015doc doc Page 8
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2.45

2.46

2.47

2.48

2.49

2.50

Looking at page 132 the paths were well defined to the pylon that was
2-3 ft wide. There were more paths than on 132 but not as many as 155

when he started using the site.

GEOFF DRIVER 1.50 PM 14 APRIL 2014
Examination in chief

Read statement which appears in the Application Bundle at page 13 ff.
That said that he had lived at 32 Cowley Drive since 1969 so for the

full extent of the 20 year period. It detailed his use of the site.

He said he often saw others in woods. Dog walkers in particular. Lots
of people. Some from Thorpe. Lots from around there. People from
Chapeltown and people from the estate. He said he remembered seeing
Pete Darrington and his neighbour Mick Harrison. He also walked with

his brother who is in Thorpe Hesley.

He said he lives alone. He said he got divorced in 1987 and has lived
alone since then. He said he did a lot of walking. Walking is his
hobby. He wanted to be alone and think about what might have been,

He said he can be anti-social.

When walking alone he would think or look at things. He said you can
see a multitude of animals. Walking off path at SW he watched grass
snakes courting. Then saw women talking about Eastenders. He
walked on paths and said. now we have tracks created by 4x4s. These
tracks were created about 3 years ago. Motorcycles use the same as

routes as the footpath.

He said if he had seen a nest and tree that had come down he would be
keen to see what was in the nest. He said he would look for that.
Sometimes a tree in high wind could crack open. There has been

nightjars, tits, buzzards and birds of prey. There are he said a variety of

Final Report of Richard Ground August 2015doc.doc Page §
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2.51

252

2.53

2.54

2.55

owls. He thought he had seen every owl but not the barn owl. He said

he used to examine and look for the pellets.

He said that it was mostly on south end of the wood where there were
birds that he looked at. In the north were the magpies and the common
birds but that did not interest him so much. There was a cottage on
north west side of Smithy Wood which he thought was demolished in
the 1950s. There were raspberries and blackberries in garden of that
cottage. Not raspberries in application period but there have been
blackberries in that period. In last 20 years he said that he had a lady

who made a pie for him after he picked the blackberries.

He said he would see fungi particularly Bracket Fungi. It grows on

beech and silver birch. Mushrooms don’t grow in woodland.

The Application Bundle page 19 which referred to gathering fungi. He
explained that he would gather it to put in better light. [box 23] .

When the bridge had gone he said he got into the Smithy Wood by
going across Cowley Hill and up steep banking on south side of the
road. It was only later that the fence went up where the bridge used to
be on the north side. He said he went in on north west side of Smithy
Wood. Sometimes he would walk up new Cowley Hill anywhere along
the banking he could gain access. When the new Cowley Hill was built
there was a fence along the top. New Cowley Hill was built in late 60s
when M1 was built. Along any new section of road he thought they

built a fence.

Fire

The 1995 fire in middle third just west of where it says Smithy Wood
on the plan OB132. Now where the silver birch is. He said used it 2 or
3 times per week. If he saw something worth looking at he said he

would go back there the next day. The fire lasted 4-5 days. Every time

Final Report of Richard Ground August 2015doc dec Page 10
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2.56

2.57

2.58

2.59

2.60

2.61

the wind got up, the fire came up again. The fire brigade doused it
down. It was mainly on that fringe. It trespassed about 100m from the

west side. It did not stop him going to the wood.

He said he did not remember the second fire. There were some poles
soaked in creosote which would have burnt but he did not remember
the second fire. He was using Smithy Wood in 1996. He walked up
Cowley Hill three times per week to visit his mother. If it had been on

fire he said he would have noticed.

He said you could look down at the opencast mining from Smithy

Wood. At weekends he said you could go into the open cast mine.

OB 94 [aerial dated by John Newton in oral 1990-1]. He said he
remembered the vast hole where they were doing open cast mining. He
said he stood overlooking that. He said he would go over the bridge
and along the path on the western side of the wood and go to the south

part of the wood to look at the open cast mine.

He did mention 4x4s. There were motor cycles and latterly 4x4s. He
had not seen a half track. The 4x4s go in on north east side and south
west side. About 6 months ago they tried to block them off. He said it
would put him off using the site as he cannot negotiate with 4x4

drivers. They have been using Smithy Wood for 3-4 years.

Other people.

He was asked about whether he saw consultants on the site. On one
occasion he said he saw a derrick [bit of machinery] at Smithy Wood.
He said he did not go and make enquiries. They saw him he thought.

The people had helmets on.

He said he would frequently see people particularly dog walkers,
whose dogs will not behave go there. If you take your dog there it is

under cover.

Final Report of Richard Ground August 2015doc. doc Page 11
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2.62

2.63

2.64

2.65

2.66

2.67

2.68

2.69

He said nearly every time he would see someone. He said you could be
walking in summer time 20 or 30ft away from someone and not see
them there. He said he had often talked to people there who said they
had been at Smithy Wood around 11 when he was also there and yet
they did not see each other. Youths were smoking and doing other
things. They were probabiy doing some kind of damage. They were
building dens and tree houses. They would shoot air guns in woods. He

said he recalls dens and tree houses.

He has lived at his house 32 Cowley Drive for 46 years. He said he

went into the house from new but it was one of the last to be built.

He said it is a desirable estate because of the size of houses and close
proximity to facilities. He said he is a bit anti-social. If he saw people

walking close to him he did not want to talk to them.
He said the area on 132 edged red is referred to as Cowley Estate.

Cross examination

The Application Bundle questionnaire box 18 which refers to taking
children walking. He said this was not before 1993 and it was not his
children but neighbours children. He did not mention in examination in

chief because he was not asked.
He said he is an attending member of CRAG.

He used the route in the gap where over bridge used to be in 2006 until

about two years ago.

He said he did not walk in Smithy Wood necessarily 2-3 times week
but his use depends on weather and patterns. If there is something
worth looking at he would go more often. If a bird had laid an egg he

may go for 5 days in a row.

Final Report of Richard Ciround August 201 5doc doe Page 12
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2.70

2.71

2.72

2.73

2.74

2.75

2.76

2.77

2.78

2.79

He said he was not in employment now or in 1993 and that he was 75.

He said off road motorbikes have been using Smithy Wood for 10

ye€ars or so.

Neighbourhood.

He said from box 6 [on page 17 tab 5 AB] of the questionnaire that
where he said there was a doctor’s surgery or scout hut that is a

misunderstanding on his part.

He said he does go off the paths because he does not like to get
involved in trivial conversation. Other people were on the paths and
some don’t like to get clothes snagged. He said when he went off paths

he did not see other people.

He said he agreed with the dates of open casting remediation set out by

Mr Newton at OB 81.

Tab 2.3 142/143 OB. He was put the OB142 letter dated Friday 13
October 1995 dealing with the 1995 fire.

It was suggested that he was mistaken as to where the fire was. His
answer was that where the red ash was is not a good indication of
where the fire was. He said he did not think this memo was necessarily
correct. He said that where the memo says virtually untouched by fire

is wrong. Areas of badly burnt trees that is too low on the plan.
He thought the fire was below ground.
Mr Darrington lives at 39 Hesley Grove.

Inspector’s Questions.

He said he knows the surnames of about 5 neighbours. He saw a few
people on Smithy Wood but cannot name them. Quite a few also from

Thorpe Hesley and from rest of Chapeltown.

Final Report of Richard Ground August 2015doc doc Page 13
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2.80  He said that between 1993 to 2005 paths created by feet. Some were
well worn. Majority of people don’t want clothing snagged. They don’t
want to walk on rough ground.

2.81  Paths stayed in more or less the same places 1993-2005.

2.82  Motorcycles followed the footpaths 4x4 changed the routes and they
went anywhere.

Re-examination

2.83 A fence was put back about 2 years ago on Hesley wood side on the
SW side.

2.84  Could always go into Smithy Wood since 2006 1 would go from
Cowley Way. You can see evidence of trees and where it bumt down
the trees.

2.85 It burnt the trees down.

My question

2.86  There was no one else from the estate who went everywhere like him
he said he was a one off.
MICHAEL HARRISON
Examination in chief

2.87  He said he classed Ecclesfield Thorpe Hesley, as the neighbourhood.

2.88 At AB58a and 58b he put in the photos of the over bridge. He said they
were taken around 2006 before it came down.

2.89 At that time he said there were single track footpaths going through the
wood. It is now hard to remember what it looked like. On Cowley Hill
it is different from what it used to be.
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2.90

291

292

2.93

2.94

2.95

2.96

He said he was not aware of everything his youngest son did when he

was a young lad.

By 1993 he said his son would still use a bike in the wood. At about
1994, The date of birth of his youngest son was 1978. He stopped
going on his bike when he was 16 [i.e. around 1994]. All the houses all

had young families and all went into the woods.

Richard Driver, Mark Downing, and Russell McKenza were
contemporaries of my son. More than that, he said, he cannot
remember. He also remembered Paul Denton. My son went to Smithy
Wood to get away from parents. It was an adventure playground.
During school holidays he went every day. They could go over the

road bridge. They could go under the underpass with no danger.

When his son was older he had mountain bikes but he was regularly
using when he was about 13, 14 and 15. He stopped when he about 17.
This covers the period of about 1993-1995. He still goes in with their

kids who live outside the estate.

He then checked more accurately with his wife the dates of birth of his

children and confirmed they were born in 1971, 1972 and 1977.

He said he got a dog in 1990 and liked Smithy Wood as the dog was
anti-social and it was quiet so he could let him off the lead. It was near

and Hesley Wood was for the scouts.

There were blackberries on the edge of the wood “as you came over
the over bridge on the western side out of the Application Site™ which
he pointed out on the plan. This was only in autumn time. He said his
wife made blackberry jam and blackberry pie. He got the sloe berries
from the entrance on Cowley Hill. The last two years have been

different.
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2.98

2.99

2.100

2.101

2.102

Fire

The fire affected the bottom part of Smithy Wood. He said he went
when the fire brigade was there. Fire was about a third of the way
down on the western side going about 100m into the wood. The notice

said the woodland there was dangerous. There is no notice there now.

That was the area where the fire was. If one went along the old road
bridge there was a footpath. That was the same footpath where the
berries were. He said he accessed Smithy Wood from north west

corner.

On Smithy Wood there were tiny single file footpaths. As you got
nearer to the main entrance the motorbikes had made lots of routes in.
There were lots of footpaths. Motorbikes were in the north and north

east.

In the period 1993-2000 he said he occasionally saw a motorbike. The
motorbikes were mainly where the pylons were. The presence of
motorbikes was only occasional and so did not interfere. More
recently, in the last few years, you can get 10 or more motorcycles so
you could not walk there on Sunday afternoons. You can get verbally
abused by riders. He also said that you can see motorbikes there in the

week especially in school holidays.

The 1995 fire was the only one he could recall. People told him about

that also and he said he had heard about it today.

He said he would sometimes go in at top end of the site [i.e. North of
Smithy Wood] and do a circuit. That was both when he had a dog and
when he did not have a dog. He would do different routes. He said it
was a lovely peaceful wood. It is really only in the weekend when you

have the off roaders.
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2.103

2.104

2.105

2.106

2.107

2.108

Of Photo 5 [The Application Bundle, page 59] he said was taken
around 2008 and 2009. His grandson is now 13 so he was about 6 or 7
then. Photo 8 was taken in northern section, it is of his wife and her

granddaughter. Photo 10 is of the old stump in the middle of the wood.

Photo 5 is the first photo where motorbikes had been. On right side of

the photograph on the path.

Photo 3 [58(b)] is taken when he had just come across the over bridge.
He walked a few yards and took the photo of some construction
vehicles. It is looking west after he went over the bridge. He said you
could always use path on western side of the Application Site. You

could lock into the wood where the fire had been.

He said that he used the place to enter the wood where the bridge used

to go in.

He said he also went along the old railway line and then under Cowley
Hill. He said it was possible to go in at numerous places along the
banking on the north western side of Smithy Wood. He said he would
go up the steep banking and sometimes he would go in near the

Travellers Inn.

When he saw the archaeologist he was in the northern end near the
informal parking. He was digging in one of the bell pits. He said he
has seen other people there who were university people doing a
wildlife survey. They were doing a survey on bats. That was prior to
2013. He said he had seen quite a few but they were evasive they were
walking around with notepads. The man, he said, told him he was

doing an archaeclogical study but would not tell him who he was
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2.110

2111

2.112

2.113

2.114

working for. It was probably autumn when he saw the archaeologist.

He was using a mini digger that you can sit on.

He said that generally you would not see someone every time you went
into Smithy Wood. You could always avoid them. I would normally
have a chat with one or two of them. They would come from Thorpe
Hesley and Ecclesfield as well. Every third time you would see
someone you knew, He went in every day and 3 or 4 times a week

may see someone from the estate.

He was going up there twice a day in period 1993-2001. He went twice

a day to Smithy Wood.

After that he went 3 times a week.

He said he retired in 2011 and before that he worked part time 3 days a
week. He worked part time 1999-2011. When he was working he said

he did not always go out.

He said his wife would not go into Smithy Wood now with the 4x4s.
The north east section is trashed. Down by the pylons is trashed. He
said the 4X4s started in about 2012, He said that from 2012 he would

still go once or twice per week, but not on Sundays.

CROSS EXAMINATION HARRISON

He said when he wrote his witness statement at page 481t of tab 5 of
AB he had his wife with him so that the dates were better. He said that
virtually every time he went for walk he went to Smithy Wood.

Sometimes not on Sunday.
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2.116

2117

2.118

2.119

2.120

He said that although Hesley wood was nearer he did not go there
because it was the tip. He said his walk was part of a route. He would
either end or start in Smithy Wood. He would go either clockwise or

anti clockwise. He did not cross a main road.

He said he would go into the wood at night. He chose to walk in

Smithy Wood in the dark.

He said his son visited the wood in 1993 when he was 15 and stopped

about 16. He told me where he was going.

He told me where he was going he had his 3 friends with him. He said
he had to believe what he told him. He went to Chapeltown Park. He

was not restricted.

Fire
OB 142/143. He said he knew exactly where the fire was. You can still
see the silver birches after you go in about 100 yards into Smithy

Wood.

He said he spoke to his wife about her recollections of the fire. His
wife remembered a fire as they came up the motorway slip road and

saw the fire,

2.121 144a. 1996 fire. He said he remembered a fire that was near the
motorway but could not remember when that was.

2.122 In 1995 when the fire was going on he avoided the area where the
silver birch was. There was concrete post with notice saying
“dangerous’.

2.123  When he heard fire engines he walked on Smithy Wood. The fire
engines parked on Cowley Hill. They said they had the fire under
control but it reignited. He thought they returned once.
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2.126

2.127

2.128

2.129

2.130

2.131

2.132

2.133

He said it took months before it was back to normal. While it was all

bare in the bottom bit he skirted around it either above or below.
He said he did not remember the fire in the middle of the wood.

He thought the reason may be that it was probably not as serious as

people were saying.

Overbridge

Overbridge. AB 58a His photo. He didn’t agree with dates and didn't

know who had put the dates on. It was not 31 December.

Photo 3 58b AB. Taken from what is not Cowley Way. Woodland is

the woodland south of Cowley Estate. The hut is where unit 2 is now.

OB 98. He said he went up that steep bank shown in the photo to get in
Smithy Wood but that if that was difficult he would have accessed a bit
higher up nearer the motorway. He would have accessed Smithy Wood
along Cowley Hill. When work was taking place on the junction this

was difficult.

4x4s

Primarily over the last two years, 4x4s had stopped him using it on a

Sunday.

He said the 4x4s deter his wife from using Smithy Wood. He said they
walk down the Trans Pennine Trail occasionally and go into Smithy

Wood half way down.

He was not saying objectors have allowed the 4x4 use deliberately. His

wife’s reluctance to use Smithy Wood has been for the last two years.

Surveys

He said he saw excavator in the north area around bell pit.
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2.134 A grid of uses (Ob 140c) was put to him where the entries for 18
January 2013 showed that no-one was seen and 10 April 2013 entry
recorded 10 days of surveys and only 6 dog walkers seen. He said this
does not surprise me that no-one was seen. You can speak to people
who were at the wood at the same time but not see them.

2.135 He said he does bump into people.

Inspector’s Questions.

2.136 He said his route varied. Sometimes he would walk along the railway
line. Sometimes over the bridge and sometimes in along the edge of the
wood.

2.137 He said that during his dog walking period 1990 -2001 there were
single file paths not wide paths. He said that invariably he followed
those paths.

2.138 Some people were with dogs and some without dogs. Others invariably
followed the paths.

2.139 He said it was such a peaceful place.

2.140 He probably still uses it twice a week.

Re-examination.

2.141 He said he could remember the concrete blocks and the aerial ropeway
but he could not recollect any fire in that area. He said he walked past
that area.

2.142 During 1996 he was walking throughout the woodland he said he
walked through constantly.

2.143  He said photos 1-4 [AB tab 5 58a] were taken at the same time.
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2.144

2.145

2.146

2.147

2.148

2.149

2.150

2.151

2.152

2.153

2.154

2.155

980B is taken below woodland there was banking at 45 degrees going

into woodland. He said there was always banking.

Photo 1 — there were never any works east of overbridge to stop one

from going into the woodland.

In 2013he said he would be in Smithy Wood half an hour typically but

could be in for longer.
Between 1991-2000 there were a number of paths.

OB 155 the tracks in 1991-2000 completely different than on that plan

which dated from 2014. There were not quite as many as on that plan.

He said that the vehicles are creating more paths and the paths are
wider. In 1991-2001 there were 10 or 12 footpaths. Some were just

made by one or two people. The ones he walked on were those.

DR CHRIS PERRING.

Dr Christina Perring, 212 Cowley Lane.
She lives outside the Cowley Estate. North West of the Cowley Lane.

Read witness statement page 711T.
74a. 1990-1995 monthly walks before she moved in. New to Shettield.

She said she knew nothing about either fire until very recently. In April
1996 she moved into her house on Cowley Lane. She then used Smithy

Wood in summer evenings.

From 2004 onwards she used Smithy Wood 2-3 times a week. She was

off sick in 2002 and also going in during that period.
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2.157

2.158

2.159

2.160

2.161

2.162

2.163

Cowley Estate.
She explained that that is how she knows Cowley Estate. She said the

Estate had clear boundaries. It had access to the whole estate down

Woodburn Drive. There was the spoil heap at the back.

When moved in she could remember that there was still work going on

in April 1996 along Nether Lane.

Page 96. While working from 1996 she would go to Smithy Wood

once or twice a week.

In 2006 and 2008 she said she could go down Nether Lane and go into
Smithy Wood in the south. She said she could do that even when there

were works going on at the business park.

There was a stile into the wood. The stile was in a rough part of

ground. The stile is 20 metres further south and is still there.

Before Cowley Way was put in she said she would walk through
various paths through the woodland west of Smithy Wood and then up
the bank to main part of Smithy Wood. There were tracks of others

walking. It was scrubby sort of land.

Plate 5 tab 2 AB. Track/bridle path along the western side of Smithy
Wood. She said she did not recall whether that path was there one way
or the other. She said she could go straight in by Cowley Hill either

accessing from Travellers Inn or not.

What She observed.

She said at the south end kids making dens and with bikes post 2004.

That was during the day in school helidays.
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2.165

2.166

2.167

2.168

2.169

2.170

2.171

2.172

2.173

She said she would meet other people and people walking dogs. She
met someone charting butterflies. She saw other lads rabbiting with

birds of prey.

She said that they got to know those walking dogs and in particular
knew the dogs but she was not able to say where people were from.

Sometimes there would be no one there.

She said they have walked neighbour’s dogs and family and friends

have dogs.

The rope swings in southern edge under big Beeches. She did not

recognise that as being a clearing.

She said that she picked blackberries on southern edge and the bit that

is near the bridleway®.
She said she did not see others picking blackbetries.

In 1996 she said it was quite easy to get around there were single file

tracks. They were covered with leaf mould and now they are wider.

She said that she would say that they could take a dozen or more routes

through the wood.

There were some definite entrances. Within the woods not directed in
any particular direction. She said she favoured the southern end of the

wood,

There were concrete blocks on Cowley Hill. She thought the concrete
blocks could be more than 5 years ago but she was reluctant to guess.

She said she still used that entrance from time to time.

% Both of these she pointed to areas outside of the Application Site
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2.175

2.176

2,177

2.178

2.179

dxds

She had been aware of 4xds for 2 years. The tracks were wider now
and very muddy, they sometimes filled with water which meant you
sometimes have to go well off the path. About a third of woodland has
these tracks. Beyond that there were occasional young people on
motorbikes who were respectful until 2008. Thereafter more and more

aggressive motorcyclists.

Every time at weekends she said she encountered them. It was quieter

in terms of motorbikes on weekdays during term time.

Post 2008 there was an increase in motorbikes. Transit vans would
unload motorbikes. Police thought they should not do that. She would

say there had been many more 4x4s within last 3 years.

She said they would avoid areas at certain times at weekends and avoid
the Cowley Hill entrance. They would walk in the middle of the day
and that had not changed. She said that recently she was still using it

twice a week.

Consultants

She said she saw an official on bridle path earlier when units 2 and 4
were there. She saw electrics people cuiting down under the pylons and

apart from that she did not remember any official.

CROSS EXAMINATION DR PERRING

There was motorbike usage when she first bought her house in 1996.
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2.185

CAROL ECCLES.

Her address was 46 Glenwood Crescent and she has lived there since

1967.

One relative did live on Woodburn Drive which was her third son
Jamie Eccles. He lived there for 3 years 1997-2000 they had one little
girl.

She said her grandchild Daniel wanted a military career from when he
was 14, Ryan and Chelsea also went to Smithy Wood. That was from

1998 onwards. He did not then live on the estate.

She said she occasionally met children on Smithy Wood. She said she
cannot remember the names of any of the children. She said she had
seen them around the estate. Half the time she said no-one was there.
Sometimes children were not from the estate. Quite a lot of children
not from the estate. Most of the time from the Estate. Around about the
centre beech trees in the woods is where she remembered this
happening. It is quite clear that stunted beech trees in the middle of the
wood. She did not remember any rope swings. That was the area she

saw children and in the south area.

She retired 11 years ago in 2004, She said she went to Smithy Wood
about 3 times a week since retiring. Every once a week in the winter.
Normally with a dog. When going in recent years she would usually go

in along bridleway path.

Before trees were cut down she went via Hesley Wood and then in past
the Travellers Inn and Smithy Wood Road. Also she did use the over
bridge route before it came down in December 2006. She said you

could see Sheffield from top of the tip.
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2.190

2.191

2.192

2.193

The underbridge was a bit of an assault course. She said her most
regular route was from the tip. There were roadways on the tip. It was
negotiable. Hers was an assault course because there were trees at the
back of her garden. It was 2013 that trees in Hesley Wood were cut

down. Now she said she goes along Trans Pennine Trail.

Use by grandchildren

She said she would accompany her grandchildren. She did not go when

Daniel was doing his training.

1993 what it looked like

She said Smithy Wood was green and pleasant with undergrowth trails

single tracks not footpaths.

She said there were about a dozen footpaths and she would use mainly

the southern end ones.

It has been ruined by 4x4s the pre-existing paths have been ruined. The

4x4s started in 2013, There were motorcycles before then.

Whenever she went in summer, even further back, there was the odd
motorcycle but they did not cause her concern. The motor cyclists were
now fitted out with full gear. That change has been in the past 6-7

years. It has made it more unpleasant to go to Smithy Wood.

She said she could only remember the remains of the fire. She
remembered the trees on the western edge in an arc in northern section
seeing charred trees but not the fire going on. She would not like to say
exactly when she saw it. She also saw brush fire beside the motorway
close to slip road beside the motorway but cannot say when and how

long it lasted. [t was while she was still working.

She said she had never seen anyone working there at Smithy Wood.
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2.195

2.196

2.197

2.198

2.199

2.200

2.201

2.202

Her visits were more frequent when working in summer went at

lunchtime but only once a week in winter,

Cross examination Carole Eccles

She explained that when filling in question 6 of her questionnaire she
thought that it meant the Chapeltown area and that was why she said

there were all the facilities mentioned on her form.

She said she made her way through the woods by following the trails.
She said she used mostly the western ones. She said she used the Trans
Pennine Trail now and before the trees were cut down on Hesley Wood

she would use the top access.

She said she used to go in further down and would enter along the
bottom. Now she goes down Trans Pennine Trail and goes up the

bridleway and up the bank.

[JDN 5 OB 96]. 1995 this was after open cast. She then went over the
over bridge to get into Smithy Wood. She said she would go up near
the motorway junction and in there where the 4x4s have now made a

IMESS.

She said she steered clear of the area where the fire was because her
sons had told her not to go in there. She said she thought that the over
bridge was removed in about 2006. When that work was going on she

said she would go in by the informal parking.

In 1993 she said her eldest grandchildren were using Smithy Wood.
Daniel stopped in 2001. Since then she said the others Laura and

Alexander have used it.
Daniel and Chelsea did not live on the estate.

Alexander did not live on the estate either when he was using it.
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2.204

2.205

2.206

2.207

She did not remember the other fire in 1996.

Consultants visits.

140c. She said that she had never seen anyone doing this kind of work

on the site.

JEAN WILLIAMS.

She lived at 11a Hesley Grove. She read her statement at AB p83fT.
She moved there in 1983.

She moved into the estate when her house was new in 1972, Then she
moved in 1983. I knew lots of people who lived there. There is one
road on and one road off. It is a separate community. Chapeltown Park

separates Chapeltown from the Estate.

From 1993 she always thought the children could roam like she did.
She said that they always told her where they were going. Stuart
Padgat of Woodburn Drive, Chris and Phil Armitage of Cowley Drive.
And Tom Vere of Glenwood Crescent also went. Danny and Luke
Appleyard on Glenwood Crescent also went. They all went around
together. She said she always asked them where they were going so
that she knew where they were if she had to look for them. She said she
never had cause to look for them though. She did not like them going
to Chapeltown Park unless they were kicking a ball. Sometimes they
would go to Hesley Wood. More often than not Smithy Wood. That
was the limit. They were making dens playing hide and seek and riding
bikes. She said her youngest son was into racing his mountain bike,
they would go into Bell pits. She said that continued between 1993-
2005. He needed to get his practice for racing. The Bell Pits were good
practice. They made a jump at the top. The Armitage and Appleyard

brothers were into mountain bike racing.
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2.209
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2.211

2212

2.213

2214

2.215

When they were younger when 5 and 7 she went in with them but she
said that they would not have thanked her later if she went in with

them.

In earlier period she said Smithy Wood was magical especially where
the stunted trees were. She said they would picnic there. There were
several paths. The main paths were a little wider. There were little
paths. She said she liked to look where they were going. The main one
is down the middle from Smithy Wood. She liked to meander through

and roam around. After 1993 she did not have reason to go there.

In 2003 she said it was lovely, particularly in spring. It was grassy.

There were some brambles.

When she got her dog she would go in either opposite Smithy Wood
Road or along the over bridge. Sometimes she would go in along the
disused railway. She said she would vary between them either along

the disused railway or on over bridge.

She said the photo at OB 100 was during construction east of new

Cowley Way.

When construction work going on she said it was a bit of a mess. She
said she either went in near where over bridge was or by using the

main access opposite Smithy Wood Road.

From 2003 onwards she would sometimes see next door neighbours Mr
and Mrs Bedford in Smithy Wood. They usually had their dog or were
in Smithy Wood with their grandchildren.

She said she would see people 2-3 times a week. She would be going
up most days. She recognised some. She knew a lot of children from

the estate.
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2.218

2.219

2.220

2.221

2222

OB 119 was put to her and she said she does not know Mr Powell. She
did not agree that Smithy Wood was a dangerous place the 4x4 use has
only been in the last 2 or 3 years. In Chapeltown Park she said there
were lots of “funny” men. Never heard it mentioned that Smithy Wood
is a dangerous place. The 4x4s do not make it a dangerous place she

said she gives them a nasty look but they had never been rude to her.

It is mainly at the weekend, usually Saturday and Sunday that 4x4s
come. She would still go with her dog then. She asked rhetorically why

should she be intimidated.

Before the 4x4s she said that the motorbikes have been using Smithy

Wood in the last 8-10 years.

In 2003 she said there were not many motorbikes then. They tended to
be there at weekends and probably school holidays. The use by
motorbikes has increased but has not affected her use. She said she

does not see many motorbikes. It is mostly 4x4s.
She does not recall any motorbikes from when she was younger.

The fire was in 1995 and that was when she was not using it very
much. She can remember a fire going on near the motorway. She did
not think it was such a big deal. She did not remember any one talking
about fire at the time. She would have thought children had more
sense than to go near the fire. Children may have described the fire but

she could not remember.

CROSS EXAMINATION JEAN WILLIAMS.

Box 6 of questionnaire she accepted that the facilities there do not exist
on Cowley Estate. Nevertheless she thought it was a separate
community. She said that if you were selling a house those facilities
are there. She said the people who live there don’t move often. I know

Chris on Cowley Lane I know them to nod to.
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2.228
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2.230

2.231

1993ff

After 1993 my children are truthful if went somewhere different I

would have been cross. They never brought trouble.

Since 2003.

I particularly went to the wood. When I am with dog 1 go where he

wants to go. | know Mr Driver he would probably be hiding.

OB 81 - she presumed timings are correct (1991-95) as mentioned

there.

Page 98 OB it is such a poor photo that cannot tell the steepness of the
bank. When that was going on she said she could get up the side where
over bridge used to be. Just as easy to walk round the road and access it

that way.
She agreed that business park built out 2008 onwards.

In 1995 she said she may have been there but did not use that much
then. She said she could remember a fire visible from the slip way of

the motorway.

She said her sons were out every day. School holidays and weekends

my sons would be out.

It is in the last 2-3 years that 4x4s there and she did not think the last 2
years were relevant to the application. She said she did not see anyone
doing excavations around Bell pits. She saw someone with a folder he

was noting the wildlife. It was a couple of years ago.

Not seen anyone with a bat detector. If they did not have dogs she

would avoid them.
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2.234

2.235

2.236

2.237

2.238

2.239

Inspector’s Questions

On western ridge close to the path she would come in. She said she had

a Terrier. She would let him off the lead.

She wore wellingtons and walking boots. She said that she does go
down the Bell Pits. She follows the dog where he is going and would

not want to avoid the rougher terrain.

Not everyone followed the paths but said that probably most followed
the paths.

She said that she avoided people without dogs.

Re-examination

AB 87. She just thought it was the facilities in the area. Drs surgery etc
she said you could live without these facilities. A lot places don’t have

scouts or a church.

Ob 98. She could always remember being able to walk up a bank near

the entrance where Cowley Way is now.

She said she could get in opposite Smithy Wood Rd. She said there is a
lovely wood opposite our estate. I don’t think this gives an accurate

picture. Not good enough quality on OB 98.

MRS HOWE.
Examination in chief

CRAG set up originally to object to the planning application on the
Open Cast Mining site. The action group was founded to fight the
planning application. She said they set that up in 2012. The members
come from all over the estate. She said they have one gentleman who
lives in Chapeltown and Dr Perming who is just outside the

neighbourhood. She said that it was their estate that was going to be
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effected. It was particularly the houses that back on to the Trans

Pennine Trail. She said they were worried about air quality.

She said that they kept lobbying but they did not get environmental
permit until later. The developers cut down the trees on Hesley Wood
in February 2013. She said CRAG raised money and arranged picnic at
the Travellers. They were gutted that they had lost one woodland in
Hesley Wood and wanted to protect Smithy Wood from 4x4s. She said
they all used Smithy Wood and did not want to lose it to the 4x4s and

motorbikes.

They joined the open spaces society. It was only when they spoke to
open spaces society that they had to redraw the boundaries. The only
other people were in Thorpe Hesley but she understoed why. People
assumed that it was facilities within the wider locality we needed to

look into. I thought it was in a wider locality.

She knew people in Thorpe Hesley. They, the Cowley Estate are a very
cohesive estate one road on and one road off. The ones on Cowley
Lane have driveways that go onto Cowley Lane. She also has a friend
who lives in a bungalow. | also have a friend that backs on to

Chapeltown Park.

Her son was actually 18 moenths when we moved in. Would probably
only walk in when Robert was 5. The family walks stopped when he

was about 11.

Trips son went on own started around 1994. The others he went with
were Jean Williams son, Tom Bere, the Browns, Luke Briscoe, Stuart
Pagat, Andrew Heatherington who was older, his sister used to babysit,
Chris Armitage loved it. Those are the ones I remember. Sometimes [
would go up usually it would be at the top end. It would be near the

Bell Pits.
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2.245 Sometimes she said she would access Cowley Hill half way up.

2.246 The Chapeltown Park was revamped in 2010 and before then the play
area was not very safe. The old play area was on a concrete base.

Robert did not particularly go to use the play area.

2.247 She said she would go across Hesley Wood and would go across the
over bridge. She said the easiest way was through Chapeltown Park
and then Hesley Wood and then over the footbridge. She said she
would occasionally only go to Hesley Wood. If she had time she would
go to Smithy Wood which was mostly at weekends and summer
evenings. She said she would go there to collect things for teaching.
She said you would not know you were so near the motorway when in
Smithy Wood. There is a bigger variety of things in Smithy Woed. She
said her granddaughter asked her to collect things and her son collected
things. Her son loved it there it was a boys paradise she said. Hesley
Wood was not good for bike riding. Chris Armitage was a real
mountain biker. He was two years older than her son. Hesley Wood
had a spoil heap on it and there was a pond on top. Boys will be boys.

There was no deep pit on Smithy Wood.

2.248 She said she would see people when she went for dog walks every
other time she would see someone. There can be other people that she
would not know. On those occasions some people she saw would be

from the estate and some {rom eisewhere.

2.249 She said she did see the odd one or two dens. There were rope swings
but she did not encourage Robert to go into it. She did see BMX bikes

and mountain bikes.

2.250 There was a tree house there just before 2001.
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She said her dog goes out 3 times a day. In summer time when the
evenings were light she would go to Smithy Wood. She said her dog

would not go with her son if he knew she was in the house.

Fire.

[t was along the West side of application site bordering the path that
goes up. She did not see the fire burning. She knew afterwards. She
said you could see the burnt trees from Cowley Hill. She remembered
there being a small fire. She remembered seeing the overhead ropeway.
She said she could not remember anyone doing any works there or
under the old ropeway. She thought it must have been an underground

fire. There was never a notice up there.
She did not see the notice at the other end.

She said she was not worried about her son going in when fire going on
because he was going in the top end i.e. near Smithy Wood Road. If on
bikes he would go in on the over bridge. They went that way with

bikes.

In 1993 she said they went in half way up Cowley Hill and went over
the overbridge. She said it was not used for vehicles but was wide
enough for them. On a summer’s evening they would go to the
travellers for a drink and then walk across there. The more typical walk

was over the over bridge or under the over bridge.

She said she could remember when it came down and then she went in

Smithy Wood half way up Cowley Hill.

She said they built Trans Pennine Trail about a year ago that was when

they started.

When construction finished and Cowley Lane finished she pointed out

where she went in on OB 100. She would use Trans Pennine Trail and
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go in at the south end of Smithy Wood. She said she went up last

Sunday and there were no 4x4s last Sunday morning.

She said she remembered that big 4x4 activity with Range Rovers and
Land Rovers escalated over the last 2 maybe 3 years. Motorbikes had

been using Smithy Wood for the last 10 years.

She said that 4x4s were usually at weekends although she saw them a
few weeks ago on Wednesday. There were two chasing each other
around. She said she tried to keep out of their way. She would then go
on the narrower paths. They have made some new routes on there

recently.

It was a lovely place to go. That is why, she said, they wanted to put in
for a village green. It was a very different place. Parkin Wood which is
north of Chapeltown could only be accessed by crossing a busy road to
get to. Hesley Wood was a regeneration site. The top of the spoil heaps
was very bare. Smithy Wood is an Ancient Woodland. The badgers set
was in the middle of the place the 4x4s go round. The badgers have
moved. There is more wildlife at Smithy Wood. If you go at dusk you

could see the bats flying around.

She said in 2013 she would be going in about once a day unless it was
bad weather. She would go into woodland for about 45 minutes. And
longer at weekends, If 4x4s were there however she said she would not
stop that long. She said that in 2013 she could be there in the weekdays
because she retired in Christmas 2009 but since then she has done
some part time teaching. She said she did see a digger near to the

entrance but did not go over to it. It was in one of the bell pits.

OB155a and page 97 of report shows the length of that new footpath
bridle path. Page 99 she said they did not object to the building of the
trail. She said she will find out from CRAG's original objection. This
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objection was written by Paul Brackenbury. What she said they
objected to was the fencing. It was the fact that it went from nowhere

to nowhere,

Gardens are well below the track. We objected to where they put the

fence. The council then put the fences along the trail.

Cross-examination Mrs Howe.

CRAG operates with a committee she said they have a bank account.
There are 5/6 people on the committee. You can become a member.
Some wanted to be a member. We are all from Estate. Colin and Chris

come to meetings but are not members.

She said CRAG has 28 active members. There are about 500 houses.
Some come who are not members. There are quite a few bungalows. It
was a meeting of the whole group who made the village green
application. About 32 or 33 were at the meeting where they decided to
make an application. There are 8 who are giving evidence orally from

Cowley Estate.
Written evidence was addressing a different neighbourhood.
Neighbourhood plan exhibit 2 to the application was dated 14.11.13

Carole Eccles’ statement map A was different application site. That

was addressing a different application site and a different locality.

AB Tab 3 Map A. She said she knew they could not include the
highways land at top side.

She accepted that Page 118 OB showed the Highway land on Cowley

Hill in orange.

She said that the Eccles map A attached to questionnaires not supposed

to be different from area in clarification.
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She said it was all of the committee and the membership that changed
the area. She said she thought they did have a meeting. She was

working with Jacqui at time who was helping her. She is ill.

On the neighbourhood, she said that it had one road in and one road out
and had definite boundaries. It is bordered by other things. She said the
Estate is a neighbourhood watch area. Only those coming to the estate

come in Woodburn Drive.
She said she did not think people read question 6 as a neighbourhood.

Ecclesfield Parish none of the users address themselves to that. She

said they are within Chapeltown.

It was suggested that her evidence was inconsistent regarding the
frequency of her use when she said two or three times a week in 1997
and then once a day at the end of her evidence in examination in chief.

She accepted that perhaps she was mistaken there.

She said it did vary depending on weather and what she was doing. She
took her dog out 3 times a day. Two or three times a week she would
go to the Wood. She took him in morning and in the evening her

husband did one of them.

Some of tracks have widened. She did not always use the paths and
wandered off the paths sometimes. The majority of time she would be

on the path but the dog did not go on path.

When the dog wants to go off the path she said she would go with him

and did not have an extendable lead. He is kept on a lead.

Her children talked to her and told her where they went. This very
much depended on whether it was holidays. In the holidays she said
she went to check on her son. On weekends he did not go up for the

whole day.
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She said she did not see the rope swings and tree house being put up.
Now she would go in half way up but if no 4x4s she would go at the

top. That has been situation for the last two years.

Officer’s report

155a. post dated February 2014. Southern section built by St Pauls as

part of the business.

CRAG did object but in essence did not disagree with the form. She

said she could get Paul to pull objection oft the computer.

She said she did not know that it was only permissive right of public

access.
She said she had seen the witness statements of Objector.
She had seen Mr Newton’s statement and did not dispute his dates.

Inspector’s Questions.

She said the estate was all built at around the same time as far as she

understoad.

She said she did not know if the style was all the same. So far as she

understood it was all built as part of one project.

She said of the paths on Smithy Wood that some were a bit wider and
definite path ways some were not as wide as others. You could tell they
were worn paths. You could tell there were definite tracks. Probably a

lot kept to tracks. Usually people stuck to tracks.

Re-examination
Exhibit 1 tab 1 of AB. This was submitted with the original
application. That is different from the questionnaires. That has a

smaller bit out than map A on the questionnaires.
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She said the majority of the area on questionnaires fell within the
current boundaries of the application. She said she would say most of

activities are within the boundaries.

She said she spoke to those people doing an extra statement and

showed them the map clarification to the area and the neighbourhood.

Heatherington showed him the plans, Zoe King showed her the two
plans, Gary Lambert she said she showed him the plans, Lorraine

Widdowson showed them the plans.

Cross examination on those extra points.

She said she thought she did new maps of the neighbourhood and the
site. She showed these to the people who were at the meeting and gave
updated evidence. They were told of the two plans. They had attention
drawn to them. Passed it round at meeting and probably had 3 or 4

copies.

DAY 3 16 APRIL

I raised with parties my role on a threatened judicial review for
Recycoal application, where [ had advised Sheffield City Council on a
pre-action protocol response, informally with advocates before Inquiry
and then openly at Inquiry at 10. I did not know who the proposed
Claimant was in that proposed litigation which was never in the end

issued. Both parties were content for me to continue as the Inspector.

TAN NEWTON-SMITH
Examination in chief

51 Cowley Drive address.

He has lived there since 1989 and before that he used to live at

Chapeltown.
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2.304

When his daughter was 3 in 1989 he said he took daughter to Smithy
Wood.

From around 1995 he said his daughter went there after she was 9, with
friends Daniel Bingham, John Duffy and Liam Mitcham who lived on
Burn Grove. He said there were others but could not remember names.
Not so many girls on estate. He said his daughter did this between

1995-2002.

He said he knew what she was doing because there were times when he
had to go and retrieve them at dusk. Could be 7, 8 or 9 o’clock. He said
they would be mainly at the top end near the Travellers pub. He said
when he went he would go on the bottom end. Go over the bridge over
the road generally. When he retrieved them that would be from top
half. Usually be in top 2/3rds. He said he would retrieve them and go

along Cowley Drive and then along Cowley Hill.

Chapeltown Park he said had been vandalised. It was only from about
2010 that they introduced swings there. Chapeltown was more of a

grassland.

It was very difficult to get onto Hesley Wood from estate. Was not

much there when daughter went on Smithy Wood.

He said they had a dog from about 1995-2005 which was a cross
Staffordshire Bull Terrier. He said he walked the same path as when he
went to pick up his daughter. He said he would take the dog for a walk
every day. He would go twice a week into Smithy Wood. He saw Mick
Harrison there. He said he would see other dog walkers. Mick Harrison
only one he could name and his dog was called Sam. The rest he said
he did not know where they lived. There was a chap on Cowley Lane

with an Alsatian,
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2.305 It would be tea time when he went with his dog. He said he would
come across someone every other day.

2,306 He would sometimes enter near where Cowley Way is now but he
would mostly enter near Smithy Wood Road and a bit below.

2.307 If walking his dog he would walk there. On west side there was a well-
worn track. More people entered through the bottom entrance.

2.308 There was a delta with 3 or 4 paths going to various places. He said his
dog was off the lead when in the wood. He said he followed the dog it
would be random locations.

2.309 There were quite a lot of paths that would lead to further tracks.

2.310 Ben, his dog, came back when he called him. He said he stuck to paths.
He said he would have to. If there were blackberry bushes he would
have to stick to paths. Off the paths he said it was pretty overgrown
and established.

2.311 Blackberries were mainly round edges. They were in abundance all
over the woodland. He said he used to come in off Smithy Wood Road
and there were blackberries when he came in. Sometimes he said he
would have to go in further depending on whether they had been
picked.

2.312 He said he was a bird watcher and sometimes took binoculars - Carl
Zeiss binoculars. He said he would stick to paths. He took binoculars
when he remembered to pick them up. It was a bit seasonal when
chicks were around he said you could see a bit more. He would not
specifically go bird watching.
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Open casting.

It was at the bottom where it says Smith Wood and working disused on

OB page 132.

OB 94. He said at the time of this photo he would still access Smithy
Wood the same way from Cowley Hill. It was only in last 10 years that
he had gone in through the business park. When developing the

business park he said there was lots of dust.

Fire.
He said he used to go down Nether Lane 2-3 times a day and apart

from the odd smell there was no inconvenience from the fire. He did

not remember seeing it in Smithy Wood. It was an underground fire.

He said he was not concerned about the fire affecting his daughter’s

play because it did not.
Fire did not affect him using the top end of the woodland.

When his daughter was going there he said there were not facilities at
Chapeltown Park. He said it was sloping and not even fit for ball

games.

It is only the last 2 or 3 years that he has seen more 4x4s and
motorbikes. There have been more years of motorbikes but not as

many until recently.

In last few years he said he would go once a week. He would carry
binoculars or camera sometimes. He said there were still lots of
wildlife. He said it was not a nice site to see 4x4s but it had not put

him off using Smithy Wood.

OB 119. He does not know Mr Powell. He said his opinion of the

comment that Smithy Wood is a dangerous place is that it has had a lot
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of problems with 4x4s. He said he attended a meeting with the South
Yorkshire Police but they do not seem to be curtailing 4x4 use. That
was the first one he went to. He said he cannot remember when 4x4

first started.

When his daughter was there, when he was walking Ben between
1995-2005 and when his daughter was playing, it was not a dangerous

place, He said he was happy then.

OB 140(a) ff. He said he went up a couple of times and saw the
Council doing surveys and they would not enlighten him as to what
they were doing surveys on. They had high-vis jackets. He said he
thought on one occasion they mentioned they were from the Council.
There was another time about a dozen people in high-vis jackets and

Hunter wellingtons.

AB p40. Questionnaire. He said he thought it referred to Smithy Wood.
He thought it was all the bit above the DPD of Smithy Wood. He
thought it was roughly what this is here looking at application area on
132. He thought it referred to Smithy Wood. He did not really think

there were areas of Smithy Wood not included.

When he answered question 6 on questionnaire he was thinking of

things that were available for local residents.

He explained that what distinguishes Cowley Estate is that it is one of
the biggest closes in Yorkshire that you can only leave via one route

by car.

He said he would describe where he lives as the Cowley Estate it is

known all over as that.
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He said about 95% of Estate was built at the same time. Burn Grove
and 15 houses on Cowley Drive. Those were done about 10 ycars

before.

Where C is on Cowley Lane on the plan were all built after his house
with small gardens. The two or 3 with bigger gardens were before but

he did not want to be quoted on the exact detail of that.

Inspector’s Questions

About half the time when he went to Smithy Wood he saw someone.
Sometimes he said he would not go into wood much in winter or when

it was dark.

Most of the usual activity he saw was dog walking and walking. He

thought Mick Harrison went every day and 2 or 3 times per day.

He said at times that he saw children playing. At tea time that was less

frequent.

He was not able to comment whether this had got more or less frequent

over the 20 year period.

Now mainly motorise bikes but he said he thought mountain bikes had

a good run.

They would stick to the top bit. It was a bit lighter and they would
prefer that bit. If you shouted your head off they would hear you. He

said he would pick them up not much it would be 3 or 4 times a year.

CROSS EXAMINATION NEWTON-SMITH

Questionnaire got Map A [ had the outline area in front of me and he

said he was notified it was a different shape.

2.337 Question 6 he said he cannot find a map B and did not think he had
one.
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2.338 He said he was told it was a slightly different shape to the one on the
diagram. He was told that before he made his statement by Mrs Howe.
He was told it was a slightly different shape but not shown the plans.

2.339 He said he would stick to paths but Ben would not.

2.340  When he was with his dog his routes were random. When he went with
family he would go down Smithy Wood Road and stick to top near the
motorway side. It goes down steeply and he said they would be in the
top.

2.341 He said he would still be walking on paths and when birdwatching he
would have used paths. He said he is a member of CRAG.

2.342 OB p81. Open Cast mining 1991-95. He said they did that where new
business park development is now.

2.343 OB 94. Far better photo he did not pay much attention to the open
casting. He could not say that was 1992,

2.344 OB96 that is poor quality difficult to date.

2.345 Major reclamation July 2006-March 2008 he could not comment on
those dates.

2.346 2008 onwards was when business park was built out.

2,347 He said he was on Smithy Wood when fire was on there. It was quite a
lot lower. He thought the fire was not in Smithy Wood but oft Nether
Lane.

Fire

2.348 OB 142/143 put to witness which was October 1995 report of fire.
Large area of badly burnt trees is clearly in TVG application site he
said.
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He said this is absolute bunkum. I would not allow my daughter to go

there. This is a load of bunkum this report of the fire.

Mr Harrison said there was a period of months where you could notice.

He said he would not let his wife go where he thought it was unsafe.

He disputed this document and thought it was doctored but then

thought doctored was the wrong word.

Right from beginning he went right in. His use was more concentrated

in the Northern end. He said they focused mainly on the top.

There is evidence of the rope way on the ground he said. 144a - he said
he did not remember the fire mentioned there. He did not recall fire in

February 1996. There was no sign of that fire.

Daughter playing
He said the landlord did not encourage looking at animals in Travellers

pub. She was allowed to go to Chapeltown Park without him and

Hesley Wood.

She was allowed to go to the remediated area which was not very

pleasant. He said the remedial area was fenced.

There was the odd time when he had to fetch her back when it was
dark. He said he would go and shout at her and gather her and what she

had with her and go home again.

Motorbikes.

2.357 Up to 2-3 years ago see the odd tyre track.
Consultants

2.358 Saw two groups of two people. They were opposite the pub entrance
nearer to the motorway. They had clip board and walking around.
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2.359 He said he broke his back in 1995 and was laid up in 1995. It was 97
days.

2.360 February 10 accident and on May 18 1995 came out of hospital.
Re-examination.

2.361 Fire. In early 1995 he said he would not go south of top section
although he then said that he would go down 2/3rds area.

2.362 Not further than the second path on OB p132. He said if you walk
down 4-5 minutes you would get just below where it says Smithy
Wood on 1320B. [From my two site visits I concluded that it was
difficult to estimate precisely where you walked on the map even if
you had the map with you because the map does not show obvious
landmarks.]

2.363 In winter he said he would not go as often into the woodland. February
not go into the wood when dark. So in February he was probably not in
the Wood. He may have gone at a weekend.

CAROL GIBSON,
Examination in chief

2.364 She said she moved to Glenwood Crescent in August 1993 before that
she lived 3 miles away. She said her husband sometimes went to
Smithy Wood.

2.365 She said she would go over the bridge and then sneak in the side of the
wood. Go up banking into the wood. She said Hesley Wood had a
different feel. Smithy Wood was a more developed wood. This was in
1999. In 1999 her son was only 3.

2.366 She said there are established paths and some that rabbits make. Lots
of different ones. You follow dogs and children.
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2.367 Lots of Bracken at top end did not stop her going through.

2.368 Beech trees further down had been there years and years. She saw
people going up and down. There were one or two that she recognised
but did not know where they lived.

2.369 Her son rode on his bike and sometimes she would carry the bike.
When 6 or 7 [i.e. 2002 or 2003] he could go on a bike. She said he
usually wanted to go up humps near beech trees.

2.370 She said she had two other sons who did not use woodland they were
16 and 18.

2.371  She said the date of birth of her younger son was 1996.

2.372  She had a dog in 1999. She said she would go 2 or 3 times per week in
summer but it would depend. Sometimes she said her husband would
go separately. Her husband likes bird watching. He liked Smithy Wood
she said.

2.373 When she went with her dog, she said she went everywhere. She said
she could get over the bridge. She said she would go to field not over
the motorway. She said they could go to the farmers field if cows not
there. Blackberry bushes best in middle the ones on the edge had been
picked.

2.374 Most people pick round edges because they did not want to venture
past the edge.

2.375 She said that there were groups of children and 4 or 5 lads together on
bikes. She would say that they were teenagers.

2.376 Other boys were John from Burn Road and Carl and Aaron. She said
her son went to secondary school in around 2007 then went to Smithy
Wood with these boys. They have fits and starts of using it.
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She said he played football on Sunday for a team. Played on driveway.

She said he told her where he was going.

They did go into Hesley Wood and occasionally Chapeltown Park but
that was not developed. She said it attracted boys doing other things

that she did not want him to get involved in.

She said she may have seen them if she went with the dog but that she
did not want to pester them and be an embarrassing mother. She did

not have a dog in those days.

She said she would still run. She said she had run through the woods.
She used to run 3-4 times a week, It was okay to run in the wood if she
had the correct clothing. She said she would normally go up the hill

through the wood and then out near Travellers Inn.

In terms of seeing people there she said she saw her next door
neighbour Ellen and Chris, she thought Brown is their surname. She

could put faces to them.

She would see people once a week back to 1999. Sometimes more if it
was good weather. Now much more. She did not know where people

driving from.
Before that 4 year period did not get 4x4s.

From when we first went in the occasional scrambler. They were

normally weekends. [t was mainly Sundays.

Scramblers did not affect the way she used the wood, it did not bother
her. She still goes in the woods, the new people that go in with 4x4s
are not very nice. They go in convoys. They go 4 at a time they are
serious off roaders. There may be 4 people in a vehicle. They are in
gangs. She said she was determined not to let them stop her going in

but found it very annoying when she saw what they are doing.
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2.386

2.387

2.388

2.389

2.390

2.391

She said she was in there from 6.30am in summer. In winter 7am
onward. The 4x4s tend to be a Sunday morning. Now they have the
Trans Pennine Trail. The path she said went all the way to

Meadowhall. It has been opened already.
OB 119 She said she did not know Mr Powell.

She said it was one person’s opinion that it is a dangerous place. Her
opinion is that they should not put her off. They are not there in the
weekdays. When she went up to Smithy Wood any time on weekdays
she did not see 4x4s. She said she also saw an old couple that go

birdwatching but did not know where they live.

Fly-tipping does not stop her going in. It occurs on south west side

close to the green line of the village green Applicatien Site.

Bird watching. Her ex-husband before 2002 walked there and did bird
watching. It is quite diverse in Smithy Wood that is what appealed to
her. There was a deer in there. The dog she has at the moment is a
Springer Spaniel and she said he goes everywhere. She said he does

come back if she calls him.

Appearance of woodland.

Some of the paths now are wider. The 4x4s have cut paths. People tend
to make new ones now. Paths can be made by animals and people walk

that. It is riddled with paths.

2.392 It was riddled with paths in 1999. [t has always had paths that are used.

2.393  They were single file paths and some were moulded over and there
were open areas. Paths connected open areas.
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2.394

2.395

2.396

2.397

2.398

2.399

2.400

2.401

2.402

Questionnaire
Map A. She said the large chunk taken out of application site she
thought was at bottom where the Beech trees are. It is where the Silver

Birch are.

She said she would classify right down to the farmer’s field as Smithy

Wood. She could not remember the other map.

She knew the new boundary of the village green application site and

was shown a different map with Jean Howe at a meeting of CRAG.

Cowley Estate

Red line on OB 132 does show boundary of Cowley Estate.

She said that the thing with the Estate is that there is only one way on
and one way off. The only way in is from Cowley Lane down

Woodburn Drive.

She thought the whole of the Estate was all built close in time. She

thought her house was one of the last it was in the 1970s.

In 2013 she was using the woodland. She recalled people tagging trees.
She remembered seeing this in Autumn/winter 2013. They had been all

over the woods. She went all around writing numbers down.

Sometimes there were people with building clothes and high vis jackets

and hats etc.

Inspector’s Questions.

Now this path is running on the back of the estate she said she
definitely walked more. This was the improved path along the disused
railway. She said the building of that path increased usage of Smithy

Wood as well.
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2.403

2.404

2.405

2.406

2.407

2.408

2.409

2410

She thought it was used more in 2013 than in early part of her use, that
was her experience. She thought the children are playing in the same

manner. Kids playing activities were not different in that period.

Cross Examination Carol Gibson

Map A of Questionnaire does have her signature on and that was what
she thought was the area of the village green application. She was not

aware of a map B.

She did not know if she was told of any amendment before she did her
witness statement. When reminded of the date of witness statement she
then said that she was shown. It was something similar to tab 3 map A

and B that she was shown.

She said that bracken was not growing over the paths. Her dog, she
said, goes over bracken. There are paths through it. Paths kept by

people walking over them.

She said Smithy Wood trips with son’s trike when it was sunny and in

mood 2-3 per week. They would walk around.

She would only take bigger bike if in mood for cycling because

otherwise she would have to carry it back.

She said her dog would not stick to the paths. She said both her first
dog and second dog responded to her call. She said if she was on the
path he would come back. She said that sometimes she would go off

path and with second dog it is still the same.

Occasionally she would go up and see her son when he was a teenage
boy, but teenagers did not want to see their mother. She said they did
not go up in dark weather as she would not tet them. She said she was
not 100% sure where they went but would bump into other mums and

could find out by word of mouth.
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Re Cowley Estate.

2411 She said there are some houses that are outside the red line of the

neighbourhood on OB132 that are accessed from Glenwood Crescent.

The front doors are on Cowley Lane but the back doors are on

Glenwood Crescent.

2412 She said you would hear motorbikes and there would be tracks

especially if wet.

OTHER WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF APPLICANTS.

Written witness statements and questionnaires.

Peter Darrington

39 Hesley Grove

He said he has walked his
dogs for twenty years. Not
clear the extent to which he
has followed paths. His
playing in the 50s and 60s was

clearly out of the period.

Mr and Mrs Davda

36 Glenwood

Crescent

They say they have used for
walking and taking visitors
around. Not clear the
frequency or whether used as

footpath type use.

Mr Glossop

64 Glenwood

Crescent

The activity he says he and his
family use Smithy Wood for is
walking and dog walking in
letter and questionnaire. The
frequency is said to be less

frequently but still often but it
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is very unclear whether he

used it as a footpath type use.

Andrew
Hetherington  and

Jenny Hetherington

Now Sprotbrough
61 Glenwood
Crescent

Andrew Hetherington’s letter
speaks of hours on my bike
riding through  woodland.
However there is very little
detail of where or with whom
he was riding or the frequency

of these activities.

Zoe King

1982-2003 at parents

in Glenwood Crescent

Says that she used between

1982-2003 for nature

activities, ~ However  very
unspecific on frequencies and

whether footpath type use.

Gary Lambert

8 Hesley Grove

Says used for bird watching,

children and dog

playing
walking. The frequency of use
and the amount of use for
footpath type use is difficult to
the  written

assess  from

evidence.

Lorraine

Widdowson

38 Hesley Grove.

Walking and bird watching.
They say on form that used
since 2010. It is not clear how
often they use the paths as

footpaths.

Mr/Mrs Brammer

54 Woodburn Drive

2004-2013. Not clear if just

stuck to paths or not but said
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high level of use.

John Briscoe

24Glenwood Crescent

1955 onwards. His use was
walking,  bird  watching,
wildlife and peace and quiet.
Not clear exactly the period of
this use or the children playing

or whether he stuck to tracks.

Luke Briscoe

24 Glenwood crescent

Says that used for bike riding
dens playing hide and seek
and walking the dog for the
period 1990-2013. The
frequency is less frequently
but still often. It is difficult to
assess how frequent this use

was from the written evidence.

AH Goodinson

Wordsworth  Avenue

when used the land

He  was outside the
neighbourhood when used the

land.

Mr Green 33 Glenwood | Says  occasional use for
Crescent walking. Not clear whether he

stuck to paths.
Mr Hardy 35 Glenwood | He says on form that he knows
Crescent the land as Hesley Wood

which casts doubt on whether
it is relevant user. In addition
it is not clear if he used the

land for footpath use.
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Jayne Lawson

30

Glenwood

Crescent

Dog walking claimed but not
clear whether it is footpath

type use and how frequently.

Potter 42 Cowley Drive The use claimed is walking
however the frequency and
whether it is footpath use is
not clear.

Malcolm Selby/ | 12 Wood Close Only claimed to have used

Valerie Oldfield

occasionally between 2012

and date of form.

Garry Sherriff 208 Cowley Lane It is not clear if much use is
claimed in the relevant 20 year
period most of the periods of
use were before.

Derek Stagg 32 Hesley Grove Claimed to have used April

2010 to date of form
tfrequently for dog walking and
leisure activity. Not clear how
much was for footpath type

LS€E.

Chris Sumner

57 Woodburn Drive

Occasional use claimed for the
period. They uses claimed are
walking bird spotting and
running. It is not clear how
much use was for footpath
type uses of the paths. In fact

the letter suggests that the
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running was along “2-3 clearly
defined paths™ and so likely to
be a footpath use.

Mrs Sykes 42 Woodburn Drive | The only use claimed is
walking and it is not clear how
much of this is footpath use.

Paul Yeardley 26 Cowley Drive Claimed to have used

occasionally for walking or
cycling in 20 year period. Not
a frequent use and not clear if
all footpath/cycle path type

use.

3 OBJECTORS EVIDENCE

RICHARD POWELL.

3.1 Lived at 87 Cowley Lane for 7 years. He would go to Chapeltown

park.

32 Read and certified as true his witness statement OB pages 119-120. He

had previously worked with St Pauls that is why he had come to make

statement.

33 He confirmed that he did not have any current financial or other

relationship with St Pauls.

Cross examination

34 Office just to right of Hydra Business Park for about 2.5 years. Going

back before 2013. He said he moved to this estate in about 2012.
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3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

He said he sits at his desk working on computer and has a clear view.

There are windows looking out at Smithy Wood.

His office he estimates is about 650 metres or so from Smithy Wood.
He doesn’t pay any particular attention to people going in. If walking
up path he can see people going up the path. From where he sits he
does not see anyone going in to Smithy Wood. He arrives at work at
7.15am and leaves at 5.15pm. His office is unit 9 on the first floor. He
accepted that he definitely cannot see all of the wood. He accepted that

it is possible people walk in a bit that is obscured.

Chapeltown Park he has twin boys aged 6. They have been using park
since 2009. Before that not caused to use the park. He used to use Park
1978-1986 when he would have played football. Between 1986-2009
he was not using Chapeltown Park and did not know whether it was
run down. When they got there it had swings and had the climbing
frame. He said he went there before the regeneration and there were
still swings etc. It is not the same kind of playground now and is better

now than it was.

There is a wooded area in Chapeltown Park for birdwatching. Nature
observation cannot do that so well in the Park. Better nature places not
just Smithy Wood. Smithy Wood is one of those places. If looking for
woodland things. They have got a BMX track in Chapeltown Park.
Steve Peat opened that. He said it has always been there but developed

it. Improved and opened by Peat 3 or 4 years ago.

I have never been in Smithy Wood. He said you can see accessing
Smithy Wood at the main entrance. You can see where to go in with
vehicles and quad bikes. He said he had never been in. He said he is
not going in anywhere with motorbikes or quad bikes. He thinks it is a
bit Jonger than 2-3 years that there have been 4x4s. It has definitely got

worse. Weekend and school holidays is when it is bad.
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3.10  During the week people not likely to encounter bikes. Deep mud to get
in. He said he had not seen motor vehicles on Chapeltown Park. He
said he had seen on Hesley Wood. He said dog walking can be done in
Park. Some like to walk dogs in the Wood. He said he would not take
his dogs into Smithy Wood. He is not aware of complaints about
Chapeltown Park.

3.11  He said he is not aware of complaints from friends of Chapeltown
Park.

MR JOHN NEWTON

3.12  Read witness statement at p78{f. Been Managing Director since 1999.

3.13  Para 3. Duke of Norfolk he was and still is landowner of 50% of the
business park.

3.14  Before we were involved.

i) % Duke of Norfolk western half.

ii) % RDA and what they called themselves.

iii) In between that was the former railway line. Railway paths
Limited based in Bristol owned that part.

3.15 OB page 88. First looking west the village green application site on
left. This photo shows;
i} Sharp incline; and
ii) Major road.

3.16 OB 89 looking towards the motorway.

3.17 OB Page 93 is taken from engineering report from the engineers who
supervised the open cast mining. It was before St Pauls ownership. It
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was done by Fitzwise. They were people who dug out coal. Engineer
report was Scott-White. I got possession of this. Before we entered into
the agreements we undertook a due diligence exercise as to what had

happened to the site.

3.18  Captions put on for this inquiry but not labels.

3.19  Paragraph 11b of his witness statement at OB 81 should read July 1995
to July 2006.

3.20 OB 94. Colleague put in 1992. This was in the early stages of the open
cast. Before the main operations. OB 94 may well have been 1990 or
1991.

3.21 OB 93 is taking north to south.

3.22 OB 96. That is what the Smithy Wood site looked like for about 10
years. Nothing changed on the site for about the next 10 years. Duke of
Norfolk land is the lower section.

3.23  As far back as open cast mining he was working with a surveying
practice in Leeds. They were working with client who wanted to
develop Smithy Wood. That goes back to 1992-3.

3.24 St Pauls entered into negotiations in 1999-2000.

3.25  He said, yes, he did visit when in condition on OB page 96 which was
how it looked between 1996-2006. Higher plateau generally flat to east
closer to Smithy Wood. Another plateau which was less flat and
belonged to Duke of Norfolk. There is a bank in the middle near
former railways line.

3.26  The desire lines shown on OB 96 is his interpretation of footpaths
where people travelled. He said he visited about 30 times between
1996-2006 more 1999 onwards.
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3.27

3.28

3.29

3.30

3.31

3.32

333

3.34

3.35

3.36

3.37

However he said he would not have seen whether there was a path on

the side of Smithy Wood.

Page 98 OB. He said he was intimately involved in that project and

knew what was happening on the site in that period 2006-8.

On the Northern tip the over bridge was removed carly December

2006.

The bank was very steep going from Cowley Way to the wood. The
area of white was works they were doing to create left turn and access.

White area along Cowley Hill was a construction site for 2007.

There were two other main elements of construction for the new access
roads. Cut and fill top half was taken off the Eastern half of the site and

the western half was raised to create a flat plateau.

All area of access was a working site which was fenced off. He could
not remember how long but estimated 2-3 months. He thought the
photo at OB 98 was taken in summer 2007. He said the bank was steep

all the way along Cowley Way.

He said there will have been periods when you could not go up the
north west bank of Smithy Wood. The grey shade had been created by
machines with bulldozers. It is bare earth colliery shale because it is

grey. [t was part of a fenced construction site.

Page 100 OB was from July 2009 he said he could date this one

because it had a date on it. On page 100 the gradients are now softer.
Those units were both constructed at the same time in December 2008.

DPD was finished in spring 2013. Further building is for a specialist

drill bits firm for engineering oil and gas.

Can soften gradients because 98 is a wider road than 100.
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3.38

3.39

3.40

341

3.42

343

3.44

OB 102 17.84 Thorncliffe on north west, next one is Parkin wood 5.79

one of which Axis own.

The 13.23 ha is north west of Hesley Wood which he said his company

lease to the scouts.

OB 104 presented by occupier of building who makes the bits for the
oil and gas industry. They damage the property. They own their own
building. He said when they carried out our works to the site they were

asked to construct a temporary footpath.

He said they were asked to construct the footpath on page 100. Until
the red route is completed this was to be a temporary footpath. He said
they did realise that when they constructed that footpath it made it
easier to get to Smithy Wood. Construction of that temporary path did
make it worse when it was built in 2007. The picture in OB110 is to

stop 4 wheel vehicles.

He said his company opposed 4x4 usage wherever possible. He said
they have tried all sorts on this site and others. He said he has found all
measures fail. They will stop at no length to use including driving
through landscaping. There is a balance at some time as to what
measures to use because if too many can get complaints from for
example horse users. He said they have used concrete blocks at the

south,

He said he had been in Smithy Wood. When they bought site originally
insurance requirements was that they had visits. They had visits with
the police. They have had stolen cars and so had to visit. A whole lot of
reasons to visit which serve no purpose for St Pauls. He said they

remove a lot fly tipping.

He said he went on with an insurance person annually. He was looking

for things that were immediately dangerous. He was concerned about
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3.45

3.46

3.47

3.48

3.49

3.50

3.51

3.52

motorbikes. That was noted. Of the woodlands he observed Parkin
Woods was higher risk. He was worried about occupier’s liability and

not whether someone was going to claim village green use.

But that would have involved looking at whether there were people

likely to go on site even for occupier’s liability.

Page 139 OB 25/11/13 police training dogs asked if they could go onto
Smithy Wood. They asked him if they could have permission. He
thought it would deter people who they did not want there so he said he

gave permission. Illegal use of motorbikes.

Inspector’s Questions.

His company bought a long lease on Smithy Wood. Long leasehold
1999/2000. Then freehold.

General procedures re visiting land. Some of our sites he said are more
dangerous. Some create more risk for company those we visit once a
week. That scales down to once a year. Those that are developed once

a week those where visit once a quarter.

On Smithy Wood we have been active since 2005 on an ongoing basis.
He said he would have members of staff on site for most of the year
involved on site. Only in 2009 would not have had people on business

park site.

It was a low risk site and few visits for fly tipping, vehicle recovery

and once a year a formal inspection.

Extent of St Paul’s landholdings 1990°s to date hundreds of acres

several sites like Smithy Wood. They are familiar with site issues.

11b for part of that period the bridges were inaccessible. When first
visited 1993-5 Core Property were trying to do a deal. Underbridge led
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3.53

3.54

3.55

3.56

3.57

3.58

3.59

3.60

into open cast operation. His impression at that time was that the over
bridge also led into that operation. He would have thought someone

would have closed it off from his experience.

CROSS EXAMINATION OF JOHN NEWTON.
Insurance position

In terms of risk of people being in the woods the insurers were happy
not that many people being in the wood and not many things of danger

in the site.

The risk of people in the woodland he said the majority of risk comes
from motor vehicles. The insurer at the time said that it was low risk
because not very close to population. This was based on proximity to

housing.

Yes it was clear that people were using the woodland. It was clear that

people going in there. It was classified as low risk.

Bad photos of people on business park was last year. It has got worse

4x4 in last couple of years.

January 2013 Recycoal secured their site which may have encouraged

use of Smithy Wood he could not comment.

Prior to 2013 he was aware of 4x4 more in the East and South and near
power lines and the bottom area. He was not entirely sure but he

thought they were coming from the Meadowhall end.

Open cast site. He did not go over the over bridge. He stood under it.
He did not know whether it was in use but it was not in use by

vehicles.

He did not have any cause to see where it went into and could not

definitely say that people could not walk over the bridge. He
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3.61

3.62

3.63

3.64

3.65

3.66

3.67

3.68

acknowledged that the evidence of what people actually did provides

better evidence.

Page 930B he was not there in 1992 but did have good knowledge of

the site and he did know exactly where that cliff was.

The high wall is somewhere under where they put Cowley Way. He
accepted that it was possible that people would have been able to

overlook the opencast mining site.

OB 96. He did not recall if there was a path along woodland may not
have noticed that at this time. He said the white line near woodland
may look similar to desire lines and it is conceivable that people were

walking into the wood.

OB 98. Some areas very white. Reason why it was grey is where soil

was cut away.

At this time 2006-8 all a construction site. Lots of machines beside

Cowley Way. He thought the works were 100m going up Cowley Hill.

Along highway land there was fencing there was a massive amount of
construction equipment. There was a lot of fibre optic cable that had to
be moved. There was fencing going back 100 metres along Cowley

Hill.

Throughout all this period he said they did some works but did not
think his work affected the access at the top near Smithy Wood Road.

He also said that people would be able to access on the southern side.
But he said you would have to go quite a long way south to get in
because of the works. He accepted that it may have been possible to

come along banking and into the wood from there.
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3.69

3.70

3.71

3.72

3.73

3.74

3.75

3.76

3.77

3.78

St Pauls did not stop coming in by foot at the top end. St Pauls did not
fence off apart from construction site. He said he did not know why
there was a stile on the bottom of the site. He did not put stile in

doesn’t know why it was put in.

He said he was not trying to resist village green law not really so well

known.

He said his company have had issues with public access but only where
residential much closer. People are generally lazy not so concerned if
away from houses. That was part of his decision making. He accepted

he could have put up signs and they did not do that.
He said he never thought about whether they tolerated people.

QOther areas.

[n Hesley Wood and other part of Smithy Wood don’t see paths

marked. There were more obvious paths in Smithy Wood on plan.

He said that he did not think there were any public rights of way on
Smithy Wood.

Page 94 OB. [90-91] Smithy Wood is more established than Hesley
Wood apart from back chunks.

In 1990s if you wanted to walk in woodland Hesley Wood not the

same.

In early part of the period Hesley Wood was different in the later
period woodland became more developed. He said he would not like to

say as to the quality of Hesley Wood.

Chapeltown Park some facilities. There are things that people like to do

like nature walks which cannot do there in the same way.
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3.79

3.80

3.81

3.82

3.83

3.84

3.85

3.86

3.87

Hesley wood extensively been used for cycling. He said Hesley Wood

was an alternative.

Smithy Wood provided bell pits which were not available at Hesley
Wood.

OB102 north west of White Lane. They are further from the Estate.
White Lane also busy. There was no crossing on Cowiey Hill for some

of the period.

He said they own the scout land 13.23ha shown on OB 102. They own
it and lease it to the scouts. He has walked it on a regular basis and no-

one ever stopped people. He said it is a more formal environment.

He did not accept that Smithy Wood was more convenient. It is at the

top of the hill.

Inspector’s Questions again.

Toucan crossing was built in late 2007 maybe be 2008.

There would have been a period of 1 year where no crossing and no

bridge over Cowley Hill.

He did not see children playing in the bell pits. He said if he thought
children were playing in his wood he probably he would have brought

risk to the company and would have dene something about it.

He was not aware of so many users of Smithy Wood to cause his
company a problem. He thought it was tracks and paths, If anything
was likely to happen he thought someone might claim a right of way
on a path. He was not that worried about a right of way. The company
have moved many footpaths and opened them and could incorporate

them in developments so that was how he felt.
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3.88

3.89

3.90

3.91

392

3.93

3.94

Greaves further questions.

Paths any concern. Some of them did look like a risk of public

footpath. Some did and some did not. There are clearly defined paths.
He was more interested in paths with entrance and exits.

Re Examination.

Parkin Wood and Thorncliff Wood he said he had not seen any

evidence about their relative ecological importance.

DAY 4 17 APRIL 2015

NICHOLAS TOVEY.
Examination in chief

He read qualifications and confirmed experience from OB p123.

He said he had advised and assessed 10-12 colliery fires. He has two
published papers one in Brymbo in Wales and another one in Czech

Republic.

Read from 3.1{f witness statement at OB 124.

Period 1983-2012.

Office at the Thorncliffe Park Estate it is to the north on of OB 132.
You travel up Station Road. He now lives North of the area so he
comes from the North. However before he lived to the East up to 2000
about half the time he would travel to office along Cowley Hill to

work.
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3.95  Paragraph 3.3 he wanted to add a bit that he now lives in Dales and
almost always sees people walking around with the their dogs. He
really has seen hardly anyone at all at Smithy Wood by comparison.

3.96 3.4 there was more interest on Hesley Wood than there was at Smithy
Wood.

NPT 3 revised 140a

3.97  is conclusion is that they have hardly seen anyone while they have
been on site. Most was during archaeological work when they
examined the bell pits towards the top of the site.

3.98  Other times very little to report.

3.99  The ecology survey were a couple of people 19/4/13

3.100 Bats a couple of people.

3.101 Topographical survey the number of people was probably 2.

3.102  22/4/13 that was different from topographical work. It would have
been examining ground conditions.

3.103 Topographical survey is what led to NPT 7 plan.

3.104 10/6/13 probably bats surveys.

3.105 13/6 SCC officers probably 3 officers from our side. That may have
been 10 people with clipboards.

3.106 Same team with Bats.

3.107 17/7/13 don’t know task ecology team were doing that day.

3.108 6/8/13 probably 2 people.
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3.109

3.110

ERNE!

3.112

3.113

3.114

3.115

3.116

3.117

3.118

3119

3.120

3.121

3.122

3.123

3.124

Two more bats site investigations. He was not absolutely sure what

was stolen on 28/8/13.
29 August Archaeology walkover probably 2 people.

10/9 site investigation trial pitting probably only 2 people a machine

driver and engineer.

Gas monitoring would have been one person. Probably 5 or 6 points

and 30 mins at each probably 3 hours on site.

4 November error.

5/11/13 meeting with SCC.

7/11/13 a couple of people on site.

18/11/13 we had archaeological team doing the bell pits investigation.
18-22 November is duplication with what is above.

25 November should probably be 22 November.

20 and 21 May survey for 2 whole days a couple of people on site.

2/3 June 2014. That was to do with liaison with SCC but not absolutely

certain what they were doing.

11/12 August is two days cannot help with what that was that they

were doing.
18/19 Sept two days but cannot help with what there are doing.
Ecology probably 2 people on site.

Fires.

Dancastle - they were retained by them. They were the owners of quite

a lot of Chapeltown woodlands. The particular matter is that they had
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been alerted to fire and we had to investigate the tire. He did not know

why they were asked to investigate the first more clear on second fire.

3.125 They were not instructed to do works on first fire as it had put itself
out.

3.126 Mr Hartley was ranked as an E2 second tier. He was a good site
engineer. He was a good engineer not likely to get something
significantly wrong. He suggested he got the areas right. General
agreement as to where fire was.

3.127 Mr Tovey said he started in 1980 with Wardell Armstrong. He opened
the Sheffield office in 1989.

3.128 OB142/143 he found this in an cld Dancastle property file. Not written
specifically for this Inquiry. It has not been doctored. He, the engineer,
would have taken temperatures of fires. They have a probe stick in
ground it will give temperature of ground. They use this to see if
underground fire or surface fire. Those readings are indicating the
ambient temperature. There is a “gun” that you can use to see
temperature of fire.

3.129 The 1995 fire - he said he did not visit because it was not a problem.
Second fire Dec 95- Feb 96.

3.130 He read 4.2 witness statement.

3.131 OBl44a this is one he said he had more input into. They found a
problem that needed resolving. He said they were asked by Dancastle
properties. The fire brigade were called but they could not put it out
because of nature of the fire.

3.132 He said they used probes and worked out that there was a problem
underground. Excavator would have spread out material and then put it
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3.133

3.134

3.135

3.136

3.137

3.138

3.139

3.140

back mixed it with clay and compacted it. The fire was on route of the
former rope way. His educated guess is that spillages of coal would
have spilt from acrial ropeway. As to what started fire he said it could
be kids and/or bonfire, probably not that in this case. Lightning strike
could have bumnt a tree and go downwards. It could have been

associated with 1995 fire.

How long on site - he thought it was about 2 weeks. He explained the
rough route of the aerial ropeway. It would have come down in 1970s

or 1980s.
Photos 145 photos. Some of these photos may have been the 1995 fire.

1996 fire he thought he visited 2 or 3 times during the fire. Once every

two days.

Probably would have seen it smoking a little bit. [ntensity of burning in
centre of it. He thought it would not necessarily have been seen from

the road.

The 1995 fire would have been more visible not with flames. More
smouldering than flames. It is because they are burning relatively

slowly. Not tinder dry and would not get flames coming out.

During 1995 and 1996 he said they had similar fires in Parkin Wood
and Thorncliffe wood. He had a feeling that it must have been
lightning strikes. From about 25 metres you would notice it probably

not that much further. 1t would preduce a little odour.

He read 4.2 of witness statement. OB 151 that is transcript from
engineer after 20 year period and 152 and 153 are photos. Contracto

removed the cars.

Paragraph 5.1 read.
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JDN 4 page 93f1.

3.141 OB Page 94 he said that was prior to open cast works. Profile was
natural.

3.142 Smithy Wood colliery just west of disused railway. This photo is
before open cast work. The things that look like ponds are ponds.

3.143 OB p 93 looks like lagoon on part to the west of Smithy Wood.

3.144 Page 93 is from area just west of Smithy Wood.

3.145 In OB 98 can see remnant of cliff but that is some 10 years later.
Inspector’s Questions.

3.146 To get to Hesley Wood they would go up via the travellers. Up Smithy
Wood Road.

3.147 Ecologist are probably not very interested in people walking on the site
but archaeologists would be more interested.

3.148 Site investigations crews dug trial pits and did drilling.

3.149 Ecologists were bothered about their equipment. On some sites they
have local residents up in arms. There have been events on site. They
have not been stopped from doing surveys on Smithy Wood.

11.40 CROSS EXAMINATION TOVEY.

3.150 He said he never went onto site during open cast mining but had been
on to many sites.

3.151 He never went into Smithy Wood during the open cast mining.

3.152  Smithy Wood would be near the top of the high wall. He said he was
basing that on his experience.
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3.153

3.154

3.155

3.156

3.157

3.158

3.159

3.160

3.161

Reason they put Cowley Way where they did is that you could not
build units where the high wall was. You would build Cowley Way in
the middle of that high wall. High wall is not going right up to Smithy
Wood. There would be a stretch along the top of the woodland where
you could go. People said that they have looked out over the high wall

and seen it and their evidence on that is probably better.

Observations from road.

He said he lived the other side of Sheffield and would sometimes go
down Cowley Hill. When going in could he could not see people on
over bridge. He did not see people frequently. Where he lived now he
could see walkers with dogs 6.30 and 9 o’clock. He does not have any
recollection that he had seen people at Smithy Wood. He could not say

what people deing who had parked cars.

He accepted that some people were using the woodland during this
period. OB 136 1996. In 1996 that refers to a path that goes to where

the fire was.

Tab 8 of AB Doar evidence suggests there were paths.

“The presence of these pathlets indicated that Smithy Wood was well
used by walkers during this period.”

No particular reason to think decreased.
He accepted that that people were in the wood.
From 2013 deliberately took an interest.

OB 100. The path July 2009 he accepted that since that was put in

people have now used that,

Since 2013 4x4 use Smithy Wood. It has got worse over the last few

years near the Travellers.
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3.162

3.163

3.164

3.165

3.166

3.167

3.168

3.169

3.170

No access through Hesley Wood. The access at the travellers is
theoretically closed off but he said he has seen people where old bridge

was.

More difficult through Hesley Wood and via the Travellers now and he

acknowledged that Recyclcoal have tried to seal it off.

He said it could be more likely that people would use the south side
now with the construction of new path, the 4x4 use and the fact that it

is now harder through Hesley Wood

His observations were that he has not seen walkers with dogs eager to
get there so could get into Smithy Wood on the toucan crossing. He
said he walked along the Trans Pennine Trail at Easter and there were a
lot of people on the Trans Pennine Trail but not on the footpath on

page 100.
He did not hear motor vehicles on that day.

Ob 125 and 137 he said he may have got dates of Hesley Wood wrong.
He said he said he thinks 3.4 should be 2010 and 2011. [application
went in 2011]

Very limited trips to Hesley Wood before then. On a number of
occasions he went in, Very occasionally took people around 4-5

occasions over 10 years.

Hesley Wood not changed a lot since OB 94 lagoon. [t has been
reasonably bare in there. Before 2010 cannot say whether a lot of use
before. He cannot say one way or the other whether use increased. The
trial .bike use has increased on both sites. It transfers from one to the

other.

He said he had seen trial bikes going into both areas not really a big

decrease at Recycoal. Recycoal similar problems.
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Chapeltown

3.171  He said he made mostly weekends visits to in laws.

3.172 He said his in laws are still there in Burn Grove. He got married in
1986. Sheffield office opened in 1989. He worked in Chapeltown {rom
1988. Sometime in 1990s went to Newcastle under Lyme.

3.173 1989 -91. He said he tended to go to in laws. Few visits when his kids
were young to in laws.

3.174 NPT7 155. It was done from 2013 topographical survey. Tracks
marked subsequently.

3.175 Large number of paths on the Topo. If you call a motorbikes track a
path it is riddled with paths. He had marked motorbikes tracks and
4x4s that was done by engineer in response to village green
application.

3.176 OB 155 first produced in early 2014. Observations not re-done.

3.177 He cannot comment on vehicular tracks before.

3.178 He walked the site on occasions during 2013. He did it about 3 or 4
times. Interspersed throughout that period.

3.179 There are more deep 4x4 tracks and more rutted now than in 2013.
Tracks related more to trial bikes. They were more 4 wheel drive. More
motorbikes in early days.

3.180 OB 136. No 4x4s recorded before 5 November 2013 on schedule. He
said on Hesley Wood there was trial bike use. In both there was use by
both.
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3.181

3.182

3.183

3.184

3.185

3.186

3.187

3.188

Trial bikes had been using for about 10 years. Could not put dates
specifically prior 2013 on 4x4s. The evidence from the entrance was

about 2 or 3 years.

155 there are paths not marked with 4x4s in the north west of Smithy
Wood. There are tracks where the woodland is a bit more dense.
Vehicular use would normally follow the paths. They concentrate on

bell pits and have made new ones.

There have been paths nowhere the same level previously. The
motorbikes have gouged them out. The quantity of paths is greater now

than when we did the desk study back in 1989,

Paths were recognisable before other than animal tracks. Paths were

used by walkers or cycling.

In 1989 we did desk top study but with a site visit. 1 went once or
twice to the site then. [see 136 OB] did not recall as many footpaths as

there is now.

Recollections only is there were limited footpaths but not extensive
tracks.{OB136]

Fire October 1995.

The inspection October and the fire was in the summer 1995. He did
not visit this fire. It would have been within a week or 2 of the fire. It
would have been in October 1% ish that the fire started. It would have

been within a couple of weeks of the fire that report done [OB142].

OB 143/4. 1t was roughly right but it was not surveyed the plan was
roughly correct. Fairly small scale map annotated by hand. It was

where he thinks the area of fire. Some areas were virtually untouched.

He thought he can really only go on what was in the fire report a

couple of weeks after the fire.
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3.189

3.190

3.191

3.192

3.193

3.194

3.195

3.196

3.197

142 and 143 at the same time. 143 refers to new vegetation just starting

to grow.

The 1996 fire was visible from 25 metres away. The 1995 fire was a

larger area.

It is possible that people could have used the northern area without
seeing it. It may well be out by 5 or 10 metres. Engineer would be able
to orientate by pylons marked on plan at OB143. People would be able
to go back into this area. Report by Mr Hartley was that in my “opinion

that the fire has now extinguished.”
The fire would have been about 2 or 3 weeks.

1996 fire.

He said he was not certain where he got December 1995. It could have
been when it was discovered. Letter in January 1996. It could well

have been discovered December council letter January 1996[140a0OB].

They are isolated but connected. He said they will have done

temperature probes. He said his company did work on the hotspots.

The fire was about 100m in length. Could not see it from much more
that 25 metres away. Unless walking on this area. It would be hidden
from the motorway. He said you would not necessarily see it from the
top part of the Application Site. If accessing the wood lower down the

same applies and may not see it.

He accepted that the fires would not have prevenied use of whole of
the wood. The works were around a 2 week period could have been

slightly less.

He said the access they came in was opposite Smithy Wood Road

where the cars are parked now. It was a small excavator that they used
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3.198

3.199

3.200

3.201

3.202

3.203

3.204

which wound its way around the woodland where it could. It was a
small JCB. There would be driver and one of our guys supervising.

Possibly 2 or 3 people he said he went personally 3 or 4 times.

Significant works JCB and 2 or 3 people significant excavation fire is
always major. We were doing 2 or 3 fires in that period. He said they
did the Parkin Wood fire as well. He said they brought the warning
signs and bunting so that people could not access it. It was red and

white in colour.

He said he never visited the 1995 fire and it does not appear to be taped
off. He said that excavator was not that noisy so one would not hear
until 25m or a little bit more metres away. There would then be a bit
of evidence of tracks of digger. Possible that people using the wood

would not be aware of this.

Area around 19 ha see OB 102

There are some that are not recognisable. It is a big woodland.

The mines to the south are shafts. Bell Pit ancient opening around
1850s and 1870s about 10 metres. A mine shaft is a bigger feature

going to a deeper seam. A bigger mound with a mechanical device.

Over the site you could be there and not know that someone else was

there. You would not know that others were there.

He said he remembered people saying that Mr Harrison did not see

people in the same time.

He said the only fixed work was archaeological where contractors did
not move around site. He acknowledged that the table on 140ff were
compiled from consultants looking back. He said he had built up tables

from answers.
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3.205

3.206

3.207

3.208

3.209

3.210

3.211

3.212

3.213

3.214

Eventually everyone did respond to the e mail that he sent asking for
information from their site visits and works. He accepted that they
were not specifically looking out for people at the time and that the

workers were concentrating on their work.

He said it was also possible that they would not have seen people in a
different part of the Wood if not close to them. He did say that the

workers would probably have remembered if they had seen people.

He said he asked the teams for recollection in 2014 sometime before

March 2014.

They were walking around the site. When there were two people who

would have been walking either together or in separate arcas.

The consultants did encounter some in the woodland. The people they

encountered. 140¢ first dusk where one BMX there.

There were then some in mid-morning and late morning. Dusk 6
children on mountain bikes. Many of the mornings talked about dog
walking in the morning. Children were seen after school. BMX ramps

were seen in a different area. 140d late evening children were seen.

29 July -5 Sept school holidays.

School holidays children could do different things.

There are records of using the woedland. This is despite the fact that it

is a large site.

Recollections of what people see. He acknowledged that they would

not be surveying the whole site all of the time.

He said his overall take on the tables is that any use he would say was
occasional. Opinion not that many records of people walking dogs he

thought very occasional. That he said is for the Inspector.
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3.215

3.216

3.217

3.218

3.219

3.220

4.1

He said he could tell that people go into the woodland but on paths was
most of use. Worn paths suggest they are being used. Even when not

being used there are paths that are being worn.

He said that it is possible that people were walking before consultants
came to site. However he said that they have quite a lot of instances
where work in the morning. Some of archaeology consultants would
start at 8 or 9 although some local people may have gone to work by
that time. It is a bit of a mix. Some that are all day would start between

8-9am. The bat surveys in the dark. Most surveys would finish at dusk.
Reptiles mid to late. If said mid morning it would be 10 or 10.30.

Re-examination

February fire. Given that he did visit JCB was not a bob cat. Classic

big JCB. Have to be reasonably small. It was yellow.

Schedule 140e there is a reference to car tracks on 6/10/13, Fresh car

tracks. Probably different people.

140f Only one dawn bat survey November hours of work for

archaeological 7am to 4.30.

THE LAW GENERALLY

This is an application made under section 15 the Commons Act 2006

which provides:

13¢1) Any person may apply to the commons regisiration authority to
register land to which this Part applies as a town or village green in a
case where subsection (2}, (3) or (4) applies.

(2)This subsection applies where—
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4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful
sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; and

(b) they continue to do so af the time of the application.

The critical issues for this case are the following.
i) The meaning of locality and neighbourhood within a locality.

ii) The test for the quality of user required to satisfy the statutory

test.
iii) The meaning of significant number.

There is no dispute that the relevant period in this case in which the
applicant has to show the statutory definition is satisfied is from 14

November 1993 to 14 November 2013.

[ will deal with the law and analysis on each of these issues in turn but
clearly the application of the test needs to bring the component parts

together.

BURDEN OF PROOF

The burden of proof is firmly on the applicant to ensure that each and
every element of the claim is properly and strictly proved. R v Suffolk
County Council ex parte Steed (1998) 75 P&CR 102. Lord Bingham
made it clear in R (Beresford) v Sunderland City Council [2004] 1 AC
889 that all ingredients of the definition should be met before land is
registered. He agreed with Pill LJ in Steed that it is no trivial matter for
a landowner to have land registered as a village green. The burden is

clearly on the applicant to prove all elements of the definition.
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5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

LOCALITY AND NEIGHBOURHOOD.

Law

Lord Hoffmann in Oxfordshire v Oxford City Council [2006] 2AC

674 set out the following guidance.

“27 Any neighbourhood within a locality” is obviously drafied with a
deliberate imprecision which contrasts with the insistence of the old
law upon a locality defined by legally significant boundaries. I should
say at this point that I cannot agree with Sullivan J in R (Cheltenham
Builders Lid) v South Gloucestershire District Council [2004] JPL 975
that the neighbourhood must be wholly within a single locality. That
would introduce the kind of technicality which the amendmeni was
clearly intended 1o abolish. The fact that the word “locality " when it
first appears in subsection (14 ) must mean a single locality is no
reason why the context of "neighbourhood within a locality” should
not lead fo the conclusion that it means “within a locality or
localities ™.

Sullivan J in Cheltenham Builders’ gave what is still the leading

guidance on the requirements for a neighbourhood. He said:

85. It is common ground that a neighbourhood need noi be a
recognised administrative unil. 4 housing estate might well be
described in ordinary language as a reighbourhood. For the reasons
set out above under “locality”, I do not accept the defendani's
submission that a neighbourhood is any area of land that an applicant
for registration chooses to delineate upon a plan. The registration
authority has to be satisfied that the area aileged to be a
neighbourhood has a sufficient degree of cohesiveness, otherwise the
word "reighbourhood” would be stripped of any real meaning. If
Parliament had wished to enable the inhabitants of any area fas
defined on a plan accompanying the application) lo apply fo register
land as a village green, it would have said so.

I have also considered the guidance in the Leeds Group PLC v Leeds
City Council [2010] EWHC 810 at first instance.

In that case HHJ Behrens set out his decision on neighbourhood in the

following way.

104. 1 have come to the conclusion that both The Haws and Banksfield
are properly 1o be regarded as neighbourhoods within the meaning of

"R (On Application of Cheltenham Builders Limited) v South Gloucestershire DC [2003]
EWHC 2803 Tab 3 of Blue 6
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55

5.6

5.7

5.8

section 22(1A4}. I am conscious that there are limited community
facilities and no shops within the two neighbourhoods and that estate
agenis do not sell properties by reference to The Haws or Banksfield
neighbourhood. However it was conceded both before the Inspector
and by Ms Ansbro that this was no more than a factor to be taken into
account in determining whether there was a neighbourhood. She also
accepted that many of the streets in Banksfield had the word
“Banksfield" in their name and that many of the streefs in The Haws
have "Haw' or "Hawthorn” in their name. Ms Ansbro very properly
conceded that those were factors lo be taken inlo account pointing in
Jfavour of a neighbourhood. As the Inspector pointed out there are
connecting streets within each neighbourhood and although there are a
variety of styles there is a preponderance of post war semi-detached
housing within each of the areas. I agree with the Inspector that there
is sufficient cohesiveness to justify the description of each area as a
neighbourhood.

APPLICATION TO THIS CASE.

In this case what is relied upon is the locality of the civil parish of

Ecclesfield and the neighbourhood of the Cowley Estate.

In terms of locality the civil parish of Ecclesfield is an area known to
law. The fact that it was known to the law was not challenged although

as will be set out shortly the locality was not accepted by the Objector.

The Applicant was very clear through Mr Greaves what the locality
was that they were relying on as part of the expression “neighbourhood
within a locality”. In Mr Greaves’ helpful outline legal submissions on
behalf of the applicant dated 15 March the locality aspect was set out
as being the civil parish of Ecclesfield.® That did not change at the
Inquiry albeit that an accurate plan was not presented until after the

Inquiry.

Post the Inquiry the Applicant produced the map of the CP of
Ecclesfield on 27 April attached to an e mail of Paul Brackenbury
where he said “The map is based upon the civil parish as far as can be

determined has been in force throughout the claimed period November

5 See §14

Final Repon of Richard Ground August 204 5doc.doc Page 86

Page 111



59

5.10

5.11

5.12

5.13

1993 to November 2013”. The Objector on 7 May took the point that
this was unclear and there was not evidence that the boundaries had
endured for the whole 20 year period and that the burden was on the

Applicant.

In response to that the Applicant produced a witness statement from
David Morton dated 14 May 2015 who is the Clerk to the Parish
Council of Ecclesfield in which he said:

“I can confirm that the map they have submitted for the purposes of the
Smithy Wood Town and Village Green application represents the
boundary of the Civil Parish of Ecclesfield”

The Applicant said in the covering e mail that in the event that [ am not
satisfied regarding the locality that I should recommend an alternative

locality.
By letter of 19 May 2015 the objectors responded that:
i) The burden was on the applicant

ii) The objector has not had an opportunity to test the evidence of

Mr Morton.

iii) I should not recommend an alternative locality on the basis of the
Lord Hoffman’s observations at paragraph 61 of Oxfordshire v
Oxford City Council [2006] 2AC 674 to the effect that the

Registration Authority does not have an investigative duty.

The Applicant made a short response dated 20 May 2015 on the basis
that they have been consistent at the inquiry on relying on the locality

aspect as being the civil parish of Ecclesfield.

[ am on the basis of the evidence presented satisfied that the applicant
can rely on the civil parish of the Ecclesfield for the purposes of the
Locality part of the Neighbourhood within a Locality expression. [ do

not think that there is any unfairness to the Objector in the way this
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5.14

5.15

5.16

evidence came forward. In reality the Locality has been clear since 15
March 2015 at the very least. They had an opportunity of putting in
evidence since then to dispute that it was a qualifying locality. The
existence of a map of the locality was not essential for them to be able
to dispute the evidence if they had wanted to. Whilst the evidence of
David Morton was not tested it was perfectly credible and the Objector
had the opportunity to put in their own evidence about the Civil Parish
and boundary changes if they had wanted to and thought there had
been substantial boundary changes. Thus [ accept that evidence in all

the circumstances.

In any event if that was not a locality it would be very likely that a
locality could be found in which the neighbourhood fell e.g. Sheffield.
This was canvassed with the Objector during the closing submissions
and there was acceptance that there would be nothing to prevent this
approach being taken. It would seem on the authorities that they were
right to accept that approach could be taken. In Leeds Group Plc v
Leeds City Council [2010] EWHC 810 Ch HHJ Behrens concluded
that:

“_.one of the main purposes of the amendment, as it seems to me, was
1o allow inhabitants in a neighbourhood 1o qualify in a situation where
the locality itself was too big. .

This aspect was not doubted by the Court of Appeal who upheld the
High Court decision and dismissed the appeal in Leeds Plc v Leeds
City Council.

Thus the position is that | am satistied that there is a locality which has
been demonstrated which complies with the requirements for the
locality element in the statutory expression of *neighbourhood within a
locality’. Even if [ was not right about this it would be fair on the facts

of this case to reformulate the locality element.

? See paragraph 90
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Neighbourhood.

5.17 The Cowley Estate is a collection of houses that are all accessed off
one road namely Woodburn Drive. There are around 320 houses'®. It
is accessed from Woodburn Drive and that is the only access and
egress by car. There are other pedestrian accesses in particular one to
Cowley Hill in the south east and one to Chapeltown Park in the north

west.

5.18  Sullivan J in Cheltenham Builders" expressly used the example of a
housing estate as something that would in ordinary language be

described as a neighbourhood.

5.19  The Cowley Estate is more than usually cohesive. All of the houses
within the neighbourhood have their vehicular access from Woodburn
Drive. The boundaries in the north east are with the dismantled railway
which is now a footpath'® to the south east is Cowley Hill and north
west is Chapeltown Park. In addition virtually all the houses were built
as part of a scheme at a very similar time in around the late 1960s early

1970s'? which contributes to cohesiveness.

5.20  In addition the residents that gave evidence on neighbourhood all
identified themselves, with conviction, as coming from the Cowley
Estate, There was no witness of the Objector that disputed that the

Cowley Estate was a neighbourhood.

" This was a figure given by Objector from their work on the day of the closing submissions
which the parties were both happy to use as an approximation. It appears certainly to accord
with the number on the plan.

"' R (On Application of Cheltenham Builders Limited) v South Gloucestershire DC [2003]
EWHC 2803 Tab 3 of Blue 6

1> The evidence of objector was that it was permissive.

1 See evidence for example of two long standing residents who bought their houses new. of
Geoff Driver moved in to new house 1969, Carole Eccles 48 years ago ie. 1967
approximately
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5.21

5.22

5.23

6.1

6.2

The only point raised by the Objector is that there were some houses
on Cowley Lane that can be accessed from the estate namely from
Glenwood Crescent but have not been included within the
neighbourhood. However the few houses which have their front
entrance on Cowley Lane and were outside the neighbourhood claimed

appeared to have been built at a different time.

Even if there are a few houses which might have been included in the
Cowley Estate which have not been by the Applicant I do not think this
prevents the neighbourhood selected of having cohesiveness. The term
is one that is deliberately imprecise as Lord Hoffmann observed and so
even if there are a few houses where it is difficult to say whether they
are definitely in or out of the neighbourhood that would not deprive the
area selected from being a neighbourhood. The Cowley Estate is
definitely a neighbourhood and this is the best and only attempt to
describe it physically. The boundary selected by the applicant had a

logic which is perfectly easy to follow and has much to commend it.

My advice is that the Cowley Estate is a neighbourhood. It is wholly
within the Locality of the Civil Parish of Ecclesfield.

LAWFUL SPORTS AND PASTIMES/ FOOTPATH TYPE
USE.

It is quite clear that it is necessary in this case to work out how much of
the use being made of Smithy Wood was for footpath type use. If a use
is a footpath use it is not LSP and does not count for the purposes of
establishing a TVG. [R (Laing Homes Limited) v Buckinghamshire
CC [2003] EWHC 2803 at §105-111]

LAW ON DISTINCTION BETWEEN LSP AND FOOTPATH
USE.

There are two helpful cases that give helptul guidance in making the

distinction between a footpath type use and lawful sports and pastimes.
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Lord Hoffmann in Oxfordshire CC v Oxford City Council [2006] 2
AC 253 gave strong endorsement to both:

“Lightman J made a number of sensible suggestions about how such
evidence might be evaluated and the judgments of Sullivan J likewise
contain useful common sense observations; for example, on the
significance of the activities of walkers and their dogs ( R(Laing Homes Ltd)
v Buckinghamshire County Council {2004] 1 P & CR 373, 598-599"

6.3 Turning first to the guidance given at first instance in the Trap
Grounds'* case by Lightman J on the issue.

“102  The issue raised is whether user of a track or tracks situated on
or traversing the land claimed as a green for pedestrian recreational
purposes will qualify as user for a lawful pastime for the purposes of a
claim to the acquisition of rights to use as a green. If the track or
tracks is or are of such character that user of it or them cannot give
rise fo a presumption of dedication at common law as a public
highway, user of such a track or fracks for pedesivian recreational
purposes may readily qualify as user for a lawful pastime for the
purposes of a claim to the acquisition of rights to use as a green. The
answer is more complicated where the track or tracks is or are of such
a character that user of it or them can give rise to such a presumption.
The answer must depend on how the matter would have appeared to
the owner of the land: see Lord Hoffimann in the Sunningwell case
[2000] 1 AC 335, 352h-353a and 354fg. cited by Sullivan J in the
Laing case [2003] 3 PLR 60, 80, paras 78-81. Recreational walking
upon a defined track may or may not appear 1o the owner as referable
fo the exercise of a public right of way or a right to enjoy a lawful
sport or pastime depending upon the context in which the exercise
takes place, which includes the character of the land and the season of
the year. Use of a track merely as an access to a potential green will
ordinarily be referable only to exercise of a public right of way fo the
green. But walking a dog, jogging or pushing a pram on a defined
track which is situated on or traverses the potential green may be
recreational use of land as a green and part of the fotal such
recreational use, if the use in all the circumstances is such as to
suggest to a reasonable landowner the exercise of a right to indulge in
lawful sports and pastimes across the whole of his land. If the position
is ambiguous, the inference should generally be drawn of exercise of
the less onerous right (the public right of way) rather than the more
onerous (the right to use as a green).

103 Three different scenarios require separate consideration. The
first scenario is where the user may be a qualifying user for either a
claim to dedication as a public highway or for a prescriptive claim to a
green or for both. The critical question must be how the matter would

* Oxfordshire CC v Oxford City Council [2004] Ch 253
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6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

have appeared (o a reasonable landowner observing the user made of
his land, and in particular whether the user of tracks would have
appeared to be referable to use as a public foolpath user for
recreational activities or both. Where the track has two distinct access
points and the track leads from one 1o the other and the users merely
use the track to get from one of the points to the other or where there is
a track to a cul-de-sac leading fo, e g aw atiractive view point, user
confined to the track may readily be regarded as referable to user as a
public highway alone. The situation is different if the users of the track,
e g fly kites or veer off the track and play, or meander leisurely over
and enjoy the land on either side. Such user is more particularly
referable to use as a green. In summary it is necessary to look at the
user as a whole and decide adopting a common-sense approach fo
what (if any claim) it is referable and whether it is sufficiently
substantial and long standing to give rise to such right or rights.”

Lightman J gave the fellowing key bits of guidance.

The first issue to be looked at is whether the track or tracks were of
such a character that they could give rise to use as a public highway.
He gave further guidance on this in the paragraph before where he said

that:

“It is not possible to have a public right indefinitely to stray or
meander over land or go where you like. If there is no made-up or
definite enduring track but merely a temporary or transitory track, that
is evidence against a public right of way: see Pratt & Mackenzie's Law
of Highways, 21st ed (1967), pp 37-38 which cites the relevant
authorities. Use for recreational walking is capable of founding a case
of deemed dedication of a highway unless merely ancillary o
recreational activities such as sunbathing, fishing or swimming: see
Dyfed County Council v Secretary of State for Wales (1989) 59 P & CR
275"

Secondly Lightman J advised that it is how the matter would appear to

the owner of the land that is important.

If the use is ambiguous the inference should generally be drawn of the

less oncrous rights i.e. the public right of way.

One then looks at the use in a common sense way to see what is

referable to a public right of way type use or LSP use.
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6.9

6.10

6.11

6.12

Sullivan [ in R (Laing Homes Limited) v Buckinghamshire CC {2003]
EWHC 2803 made common sense observations on dog walking that if
a dog owner is walking down a path but goes to retrieve an errant dog
who is off the path that is still only the exercise of a footpath use and
not LSP. He said the following.

104 The landowner is faced with the same dilemma if the dog runs
away from the footpath and refuses fo return, so that the owner has fo
go and refrieve it. It would be unfortunate if a reasonable landowner
was forced to stand upon his rights in such a case in order to prevent
the local inhabitants from obtaining a right to use his land off the path
Jor informal recreation. The same would apply to walkers who casually
or accidentally strayed from the foolpaths without a deliberate
intention to go on other parts of the fields: see per Lord Hoffmann at
358E of Sunningwell. I do not consider that the dog's wanderings or
the owner's atiempts to reirieve his errant dog would suggest to the
reasonable landowner that the dog walker believed he was exercising a
public vright to use the land beyond the fooipath for informal
recreation.

APPLICATION OF LAW TO THIS CASE.
Character of Paths

The first question to consider is the character of the tracks during the
application period and whether they were such that they could give rise

to a claim for a highway.

The vast preponderance of the evidence was that during most of the
relevant period Nov 1993-Nov 2013 there were about a dozen
footpaths on the land. There were more when the 4x4s have been using
the land extensively in the last few years. The following is some of the

key evidence on this.

Mr Brackenbury said in re-examination the number of paths was
between the number on the plan at OB 132 and OB155 when he began
using the land near the beginning of the period. This is consistent with

about a dozen paths. He also spoke of them as being well trodden.

Final Report of Richard Ground August 2013doc dec Page 93

Page 118



6.13

6.14

6.15

6.16

6.17

6.18

6.19

6.20

Mr Driver said that the paths stayed in more or less the same places

between 1993 to 2005."

Mr Harrison said in re-examination that there were 10-12 paths in the

period he was using the Application Site 1991-2001."°

Dr Perring said in examination in chief that there were a dozen or so

footpaths going through the woods.

Mr Newton accepted from his visits where he saw tracks and paths that

there was a possibility of a footpath claim."”

Carol Eccles said in examination in chief that there were a dozen or so

footpaths.

Ms Gibson said Smithy Wood was riddled with paths. However |
prefer the more specific evidence of all of the above witnesses as to the

nature of the paths.

In addition from the site visits made I was able to see that there were
paths now running through Smithy Wood. These paths have probably
changed in character number and location because of the 4x4 activity.
However about a dozen paths over 20 hectares of land is perfectly
consistent with having tracks that have the attributes of footpaths as

opposed to use of the land as a whole.

So taking all the evidence as a whole I was quite satisfied that there
were paths and tracks which had the character necessary to be
footpaths. That changed after the 4x4 use increased in the last 2-3 years
when the routes were much more changeable. This is also supported

by the evidence of how the site was used as well.

i3 + .
See cross examination

' See last answer of re-examination

' See [nspector questions second set.
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6.21

6.22

6.23

6.24

6.25

6.26

6.27

USE AS FOOTPATHS.

The most common use of Smithy Wood was for dog walking and
walking in that order.'® That is not to say that even for these uses they

were very frequent for the reasons that I set out below.

Of these uses the vast majority of the use for these purposes was along
the paths. This is clear from the totality of the evidence but in

particular the following.

Mr Brackenbury said that there were paths that people walked on in
cross examination and spoke in re-examination of some paths which

were well trodden.

GeofT Driver made it clear that the majority of people did not want to
get their clothing snagged and as a result didn’t walk on the rough
areas.”” He also said that there was no-one else from the estate who

went everywhere like him, he said he was a one-off.?

Mr Harrison said that he invariably followed the paths when he was
walking his dog between 1990-2001 and that others that he saw also

invariably followed the paths.”'
Ms Eccles said that she followed the footpaths™.

Mrs Williams said that she wandered off the path sometimes but the
majority of the time she would be on the path.” So far as others were
concerned she said probably a lot kept to the tracks and usually people

stuck to the tracks.”!

18 See evidence of Mr Newton Smith Inspector questions for example.
" See Inspector questions.

¥ Gee last answer to Inspector

2! gee Inspector’s questions.

2 Gee cross examination

¥ See Inspector’s questions

* See Inspector’s questions.
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6.28

6.29

6.30

6.31

7.1

Ian Newton-Smith said that he stuck to the path in both examination in

chief and cross examination .

Carol Gibson said that she would sometimes go off the path in cross

examination.

Mr Newton’s evidence was that he saw the evidence on the ground

which could have been evidence of people using a track or path..”

CONCLUSION ON LSP FOOTPATH.

Therefore applying the tests in Laing and Oxfordshire Trap Grounds
at first instance the vast majority of the use was for a footpath type use.
This footpath type use does not count as LSP and so should be stripped
out before considering whether there are a significant number of users
or a sufficient quality of user to make a successful claim for TVG

registration.

CONCLUSIONS ON SIGNICANT NUMBER &
QUALITY OF USER.

LAW
In R(McAlpine) v Staffs CC [2002] EWHC 76 (Admin) Sullivan J set

out the following guidance on the meaning of the significant number
in the context of section 22(1) as amended of the Commons

Registration Act 1963.

71 Dealing firstly with the question of a significant number, 1 do
not accept the proposition that significant in the context of
section 22(1) as amended means a considerable or a
substantial number. A neighbourhood may have a very limited
population and a significant number of the inhabitants of such
a neighbourhood might not be so great as to be properly
described as a considerable or a substantial number. In my
Jjudgment the inspector approached the maiter correctly in

¥ Qee Inspector’s questions at §3.87.
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7.2

1.3

7.4

7.5

saying that “significant”, although imprecise, is an ordinary
word in the English language and little help is to be gained
from trying to define it in other language. In addition, 1he
inspector correctly concluded that, whether the evidence
showed that a significant number of the inhabitants of any
locality or of any neighbourhood within a locality had used the
meadow for informal recreation was very much a matter of
impression. It is necessary fo ask the question: significant for
what purpose? In my judgment the correct answer is provided
by My Mynors on behalf of the council, when he submits that
what matters is that the number of people using the land in
question has to be sufficient to indicate that their use of the
land signifies that it is in general use by the local community
for informal recreation, rather than occasional use by
individuals as trespassers.

This was approved of by the Court of Appeal in Leeds Group v Leeds
City Council [2011] Ch 363,

Thus the key question is whether the use is sufficient to indicate that it
is in general use by the local community for informal recreation rather
than occasional use by trespassers. In the same case the court approved
the Inspector’s approach that in deciding whether a significant number
of locals had used an area for recreation this ‘was very much a matter
of impression’. It is relevant to this task to look at the size of the

neighbourhood or locality claimed.

In R v Oxfordshire CC Ex p Sunningwell [2000] AC 335 lLord
Hoffmann set out that if a use was trivial and sporadic that would be
insufficient to carry the outward appearance of user as of right. He
said:

“It may be, of course, that the user is so trivial and sporadic as not to
g w27
carry the outward appearance of user as of right.

The test for the quality of user required has since then been set out by

the Supreme Court in R (on the application of Lewis) v Redcar and

% Gee paragraph 31 where Sullivan L) quoted with approval his judgment in McAlpine.
Arden LJ expressly agreed with this at paragraph 59
7 See page 357D
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7.6

1.7

Cleveland Borough Council [2010] 2 AC 70. They held that the test
was whether:
“the user was of such amount and in such manner as would reasonably
be regarded as heing the assertion of a public right (see R (Beresford)

v Sunderland City Council [2004] 1 AC 889, paras 6 and 77), the
owner will be taken to have acquiesced in it —. "

“The question is whether the user by the public was of such anount
and in such manner as would reasonably be regarded as being the
assertion of a public right " [para 75]

APPLICATION TO THESE FACTS.

Whilst all of their witnesses were trying to assist the Inquiry I do not
accept that the totality of the use of Smithy Wood was very great. The
frequency of use and the number of people typically who used the site
are difficult to recollect going back over a 20 year period. There were
some of the witnesses who were imbued with the idea that it would be
beneficial to have the registration succeed to “save” Smithy Wood
from development. In addition it is natural when asked about particular
events to remember positive times when you did that as opposed to the
no doubt many times when they were doing other things. These factors
whether consciously or subconsciously led to some overstatement of

the frequency of visits and the consistency of visits over a period.

There are a number of factor that lead me to suspect that use of Smithy

Wood for any sort of activity was relatively limited.

i)  First it was quite a distance tfrom the Cowley Estate. For most of
the period people from the Estate would have been able to go
over the over bridge after going through Hesley Wood.
Alternatively they would have been able to cross the busy
Cowley Hill or go under the disused railway. However it was not

very close. I accept the evidence of Mr Newton from his insurers

* see Redcar per Lord Hope at paragraph 67
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that people are often lazy about where to go for recreation and if
it is not close they will not use it very regularly. There are of
course exceptions to this and those with a motive to go further
like dog walkers or nature enthusiasts may go further. However
the distance leads me to suspect that use of Smithy Wood was not

as great as some suggested.

ii) The routes there were not amazingly straightforward for most of
the period. The old railway line was rough until the Council
improved it in the last year. The overbridge involved going
through Hesley Wood. There was a period in 2007 after the over
bridge was taken down and before the toucan crossing was built

when it was even less inviting.

iii) Chapeltown Park was along one side of the Cowley Estate with
an easy access. It is true that the evidence of many was that this
was a bit run down until it was improved in around 2010. [see
evidence of Mrs Howe examination in chief] However Mr Powell
used it before the improvement and it did not put him off. Ms
Gibson did not notice any change in the kids playing over the
period.29 On the site visit on 23 April 2015 I saw only 1 person in
Smithy Wood despite spending 1 hour there and yet in the park
there was constant activity with 10s of people there. 1 looked
carefully for evidence of people walking into Smithy Wood along
the Trans Pennine Trail at the end of the site visit and there were
none. Even taking into account: the slightly different timings on
the same day of the visits to each, that it was only a snapshot, that
is harder to see people in Smithy Wood and that the park has been
improved it was testament to the fact that Chapeltown Park would
have been likely to be used for many recreational uses during the

relevant period.

* Inspector's Questions Ms Gibson
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iv) In addition if children wanted a bit of wood to play in particularly
just north of the Estate without crossing any road there was a part
of Hesley Wood which was available although this was quite a
narrow area by comparison with Smithy Wood. However it
would have been a convenient and close treed area. It was
apparent from the site visit that this area had old trees which was
consistent with the aerial photo from 1996 showing trees in this

31'63.30

v)  The creation of the bridleway path south west of Smithy Wood
which was done when the business park buildings were
constructed in 2008 made the use of Smithy Wood more
appealing. Before that there was not an easy route that followed

that line.

7.8 In addition when the totality of the applicant’s evidence is looked at
there are several features that really point to a very low overall level of

usage of Smithy Wood which is consistent with the above.

i) The number of people who have evidence of using the land
directly is small. It is a smail number from an estate of about 320
houses. There were 8 witnesses who gave oral evidence from
inside the Neighbourhood of having used the land. The written
evidence has to be treated with some caution because it is
difficult to tell from that as to whether any significant amount of
that use was for LSP as opposed to footpath type use. The
frequency and time period of the use is much harder to give

weight to.

ii) The evidence of seeing other named individuals from the Estate

was very limited. Evidence of seeing unnamed and unrecognised

* OB 96

Final Report of Richard Ground August 201 3doc doc Page 100

Page 125



others on Smithy Wood is not of so much weight because they

may well be from elsewhere and so not qualifying user.

iii) The evidence was quite limited on the number of specific
occasions related to any known event but was all very general on
the number of times per week which over a 20 year period is easy
to focus on usage and hence consciously or subconsciously inflate

usage.

iv) In terms of the children playing very few specific recollections

from those that saw it or were involved in it.

v)  There was a lack of any photographs. This could be explained by
there being fewer cameras around than today. But even making
allowance for that there were very few photographs. The
applicant clearly did incorporate some. If Smithy Wood had been
used as a regular destination play area for events like picnics and
kids playing [ would have expected some more photographs than

were presented.

vi) There was a lack of evidence of people seeing new dens or rope

swings.

vii) In addition some of the evidence was to the effect that the paths
were rather lightly used in the early years. Dr Perring for example
spoke of leaf mould being on the paths and that some of them

being made by cne or two people.z’l

viil) Most of the evidence of blackberry picking was outside of the
Application Site south or west of the Application Site. What was

left was very limited and occasional.

I See examination in chief at 2.170 above.
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7.9

7.10

ix) Physically Smithy Wood is a large site of just under 20ha so that
the level of use to put a reasonable landowner on notice must be

greater.

x)  The lack of recollection especially of the fire in 1995 is consistent
with the use being less frequent than some remember. The second
fire was more localised from the evidence of Mr Tovey and
would only have been visible from around 25 metres and so it is

explicable that people did not notice that or did not recollect that.

I am reinforced in these conclusions by the evidence of the objector.
Mr Newton and Mr Tovey went on the site on a number of occasions
and did not see any children playing or evidence of that. All Mr
Newton saw is paths consistent with a possible footpath claim which
he was not concerned about. Post 2013 if there was a substantial use
certainly before the underpass had been improved along the old railway
line from around April 2014 he would have been likely to have seen it
on his trips down Cowley Hill. He would have seen walkers crossing
the toucan or walkers going in up the banks but he did not. Mr Tovey
was a reliable witness who did not appear to be giving only answers

helpful to his client.

The consultants’ reports of what they saw in the evidence of Mr Tovey
from 2013 are an important record and significant evidence. Despite
approximately 45 days*® of having consultants on the site usually for
long periods there were people in the woodland on only a few
occasions. [ take the point that there are limitations to this evidence in
that it was not the product of contemporaneous notes but compiled by
Mr Tovey asking for recollections around 6 months after the
consultants were there but it is nonetheless a powerful record. I was

impressed with the candour and integrity of Mr Tovey and I am

2 Gee OB 126 he said approximately 45 but looking at the table it is very likely to be over 45

days.
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7.11

7.12

7.13

7.14

confident he compiled this evidence without trying to influence it. The
reporting of visits and sightings of people over the period voluntarily is

testimony to this.

Conclusions On Quality of Use and significant number.

I thus take the view that there was very little use of Smithy Wood in
the relevant period considerably less than appeared from some of the
evidence. However if the use by people from outside of the
neighbourhood is stripped out and use for a footpath type use is
stripped out what is left is trivial and sporadic and not by a significant

number.

Firstly when people saw others generally many of those that they saw
were likely to be from outside the neighbourhood. For example Mr
Driver said that quite a few came from Thorpe Hesley and
Chapeltown33 . Mrs Howe recognised in examination in chief that some
that she would see were from elsewhere and not the estate. Thus much
of the evidence of seeing others would not in fact be qualifying user

because the people seen would not have been from the Neighbourhood.

However the even more significant factor is that the most common
uses were walking dogs and walking and the vast majority of that was
footpath use and not LSP and so should be stripped out for the reasons

set out above,

When this is done the limited use that was made of the site initially
becomes miniscule for LSP by those from the Neighbourhood certainly
nothing like sufficient to be a significant number or the quality of use
that would be able to qualify under section 15 of the Commons Act

2006.

* See Inspector’s Questions
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7.15

7.16

7.17

This can be tested by looking at the schedule of what the consultants
saw in 2013. This was, as has been mentioned, observations over 45
days when consultants were on site usually for substantial parts of the
day. This was over the warmer months and included the summer
holiday. It was during a period when the bridleway path had been
constructed and so use was likely to be encouraged. The only point that
could have dampened the use was 4x4 use however that was most
frequent over the weekend and particularly Sundays and the surveys

covered lots of days that were not weekends.

When the schedule is looked at there is very little LSP use left if the
footpath, illegal and furtive uses are stripped out. Firstly if walking and
dog walking are stripped out on the basis that the vast majority of that
is footpath type use that reduces the total. In addition the illegal
shooting and illegal use of motor vehicles which was correctly
accepted by the applicant to be unlawful should be stripped out. The
police dog training was with permission. There is one occasion of
furtive gathering of wood [5/9/13] which is more marginal but is likely
to be unlawful if the wood is being taken and could be secretive®. In
any event it should probably not be considered. When all of those uses
are stripped out all that is left is 3 incidents of children playing which
are certainly LSP. Of those it is not certain that they are all from the
neighbourhood. In any event 3 isolated events of children playing even
if they were all from the neighbourhood is clearly trivial and sporadic
over 45 days. That is even when one considers that some use would
have been missed and a small part of the walking with and without

dogs may be qualifying use.

Thus for all these reasons there was insufficient use to indicate that the
use of the land was in general use by the local community for informal

recreation rather than occasional use by individuals as trespassers. The

34 . . . .
* ie clam to use the Latin term from nec vi. nec clam and nec precario
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8.1

use was not of such an amount and in such a manner as would be
reasonably be regarded as being the assertion of a public right. Thus
the use fails the test for significant number in section 15 of the
Commons Act 2006 as elucidated by Sullivan ] in McAlpine and the

test for quality of user as set out in Redcar.

OVERALL CONCLUSIONS

For the above reasons I recommend that the Registration Authority
refuse this application for a village green on the basis that the use has
not been by a significant number of inhabitants of the neighbourhood
and is insufficient to pass the test set out in Redcar. I take the view the
Cowley Estate is a neighbourhood within a locality within the meaning

of section 15 Commons Act 2006.
Richard Ground

28 August 2015

Cornerstone Barristers
2-3 Gray's Inn Square
London WCIR 5JH.
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Objectors and Applicants Comments
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OBJECTOR'S REPRESENTATIONS ON THE REPORT OF INSPECTOR RICHARD
GROUND DATED 14 JULY 2015 REGARDING SMITHY WOOD VILLAGE GREEN
APPLICATION

1. Paragraph 6.15 on page 94 - Mr Ground attributes Dr Perring as stating that: "there are a
dozen or so footpaths going through the woods."

In fact Dr Perring only refers to this in examination in chief at paragraph 2.171 on page 24.
There was no reference in cross-examination which was extremely brief.

2. Paragraph 6.27 on page 23 - Mr Ground attributes Mrs Williams to stating that she "wandered
off the path sometimes but the majority of time she would be on the path".

Mrs Williams does not mention this. Mrs Howe actually states this in evidence in chief at
paragraph 2.279 on page 39 and paragraph 2.290 on page 40.

3. Paragraph 6.30 on page 96 - Mr Ground states that: "Mr Newton' evidence was that he saw
the evidence of track having been made that looked like being made by foot."

There is nothing in the evidence for Mr Newton or any other witness within the report that
specifically states this. Mr Newton does say at paragraph 3.88 (page 70) that "there are
clearly defined paths". Dr Perring in her evidence at paragraph 2.160 on page 23 does state
that there were tracks of others walking. At paragraph 2.307 on page 43 Mr Newton Smith
states that on the west side there was a well-worn track.

4. Paragraph vii) page 101 - Mr Ground states that: "Dr Perring for example spoke of leaf mould
being on the paths and that some of them being made by one or two people."

Mr Ground in the footnote attached to this paragraph states that the information came from
the last answers in re-examination of Dr Perring. There was no re-examination of this witness.
Dr Perring refers to leaf mould on the paths in examination in chief at paragraph 2.170

on page 24. Mr Harrison then refers to some paths being made by one or two people in re-
examination at paragraph 2.149 on page 22.

28 July 2015

DLA PIPER UK LLP
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Conley Residents Ackion Broup
CRAG

31.7.15
Application Number 2013/VG02

Smithy Wood Village Green Report

Reply to Inspectors Report

Dear Claire,

We as a group do not agree with the recommendations by the inspector, as we believe that he has
misinterpreted certain important aspects of the law, and that our original arguments in response to
the Objector on these issues have been disregarded. We do not agree that he could reasonably draw
the conclusion he did, when government guidance and case law suggest otherwise. We reiterate our

position on the following issues:
1. The land does not have to be used in its entirety.

Defra guidance in paragraph 8.10.62 states:

“Another question raised in the Trap Grounds case was whether land can qualify for registration as a
green even if some of it was inaccessible throughout all or part of the relevant period. The court was
asked whether land could have become a green even though by reason of impenetrable growth only
25% of it was accessible for walkers. The inspector had advised that it could; recreational use of

tracks, glades and clearings could amount to recreational use of the land viewed as a whole.

In the High Court, Lightman J refused to do any more than give guidance “of the broadest kind”. He
agreed that the existence of inaccessible areas did not preclude land being held to be a green, and
pointed out that such areas might form part of the scenic attraction and might even themselves
provide recreational opportunities. For example, a pond could be used for feeding ducks or sailing

model boats.

Overgrown areas might provide a habitat for wildlife to the benefit of bird watchers and others
interested in nature observation. The question whether land could properly be described, viewed
as a whole, as having been used for recreation notwithstanding the inaccessibility of parts was to

be approached in a common sense rather than a mathematical way. However, a registration
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authority should not strain its finding of fact on that question, and did not need to do so, having

regard to the availability of power to register a part or parts of a claimed green."
And in 8.10.63

"In the House of Lords, Lord Hoffmann said he was very reluctant to express a view on the
inspector’s conclusions without inspecting or at least seeing photographs of the site, but agreed that
in principle it was unnecessary for users to have set foot on every part (or even the majority) of

the land included in an application."

2. A “significant number” does not have to be entirely from the estate.

Quote "In the McAlpine Homes case the High Court provided some useful guidance about what ‘a
significant number’ might mean. The court did not accept that the expression was synonymous with
a considerable, or a substantial, number. The reason given was that a neighbourhood might have a
very limited population, and a significant number of its inhabitants might not be capable of being

described as considerable or substantial."

"Whether the evidence shows that a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality or
neighbourhood within a locality used the land for informal recreation is, according to the court, very
much a matter of impression. The key question is whether the number of inhabitants using the land
was sufficient to signify that it was in general use by the local community (i.e. the inhabitants of the
relevant locality or neighbourhood) for informal recreation, rather than occasional use by individual

trespassers."

3. We believe that there has been a misinterpretation of the definition of a public right of way

and the use of footpaths as part of recreation, and that its application to our use is incorrect.

Common law has established that a highway is a defined route over which "the public at large" can
pass and repass as frequently as they wish, without hindrance and without charge. The common law

defined three categories of highway:

Footpath, Bridleway, and Carriageway.
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Footpath

A footpath is a way over which the public has a right of way on foot only and which is not a footway

(section 66, WCA 1981).
Right of way

Defined as an Easement, a privilege to pass over the land of another, whereby the holder of the
easement acquires only a reasonable and usual enjoyment of the property, and the owner of the

land retains the benefits and privileges of ownership consistent with the easement.

1) a pathway or road with a specific description (e.g. "right to access and egress 20 feet wide along

the northern line of Lot 7 of the Cobb subdivision in page 75 of maps").

2) the right to cross property to go to and from another parcel. The right of way may be a specific
grant of land or an "easement," which is a right to pass across another's land. The mere right to
cross without a specific description is a "floating" easement. Some rights of way are for limited use
such as repair of electric lines or for deliveries to the back door of a store. Railroads own title to a

right of way upon which to build permanent tracks.
Floating easement

n. an easement (a right to use another's property for a particular purpose) which allows access

and/or egress but does not spell out the exact dimensions and location of the easement.

To a large extent, the phrase public right of way is interchangeable with highway, but public right of
way tends to be used to refer to the minor ways required to be shown on a definitive map, so
Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted byway and Byway open to all traffic (BOAT). In general terms the
public are allowed to pass and re-pass as a genuine traveller, and undertake closely allied activities
such as stopping to rest or look at views. The public have no right to undertake unrelated activities
such as metal-detecting or flying model aircraft, den building, bicycle riding, or other recreational

activities.

Riding of motorbikes on footpaths is a criminal offence if done without lawful authority, which may
be the landowner's permission, and even with permission it can still be an offence if motorbikes are
ridden inconsiderately or cause damage. Based on the testimony from all concerned, if the paths
used by local people for recreation were indeed being used in accordance with the legal definition of
a footpath, as interpreted by the inspector, then the land owner was knowingly allowing a criminal

offence to be committed.
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The number and use of ‘footpaths’ and tracks show that the woodland has been well used by local
people. While some people may have remained on the paths, their use of them was not merely to
transit from one side of the woodland to another, that is to say, as a traveller to transition from
point A to point B on their way to somewhere else, as one would if using the footpath in the context
of a public right of way. Their use of footpaths and tracks was part of their recreational use of the

woodland.

Provision is made under the Highways Act 1980 and the Commons Act 2006 for landowners to
submit a Statement to their local Council setting out where any public rights already exist

and making a declaration that they do not want to see any further rights created.

The inspector describes the need to consider what a reasonable landowner would have thought
upon observing the myriad of footpaths and tracks within the woodland. The land owner in this case
said that he had seen the tracks and had considered the possibility of a public right of way arising,
but that he was not concerned about that. It begs the question why the landowner did not
reasonably consider the possibility of other rights being established. To suggest that any reasonable
person would not consider the possibility of further rights arising under these circumstances, is to

our minds not reasonable at all.

It is a question that we do not feel was given adequate consideration by the inspector, especially
since there was also evidence over the years of den building and rope swings, consistent with use by
children. The reasonable assumption could not have been that individuals were occasionally
trespassing in order to transit through the woodland to other places — as would be consistent with
the legal definition of footpath use. Local people have testified that their use of paths and tracks

was part of and facilitated their enjoyment of the woodland.

It should be remembered that this woodland is not typical of historical village greens, and does not

consist of grass or grassland where all or most parts are accessible.

We believe that the inspector’s interpretation on the law regarding these issues is mistaken and
incorrectly applied, and if appropriate, we would appreciate it if you could bring this to his attention
for further consideration. We look forward to hearing your reply.

Regards,

Jean Howe (CRAG)
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Appendix ‘D’

Inspectors response to Applicant
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Application Number 2013/VG02

Smith Wood Village Green Report

ADDENDUM COVERING APPLICANT’S FURTHER

1.1

1.2

1.3

SUBMISSIONS DATED 31 JULY 2015

The Cowley Residents Action Group wrote in reply to the circulated

Report on 31 July 2015. They made three observations:
i)  The land does not have to be used in its entirety;

ii) A “significant number” does not have to be entirely from the

estate;

iii) We believe that there has been a misinterpretation of the
definition of a public right of way and the use of footpaths as part

of recreation, and that its application to our use is incorrect.

It is helpful of CRAG to raise these matters at this stage however for
reasons set out briefly below, which should be read together with the
Report, they do not alter the findings of the report or cause me to make

any amendments to the report.

Firstly the Report does not proceed on the basis that the land has to
used in its entirety. This point, in respect of the extent of the use, was
previously made at paragraph 17 of the Outline Legal Submissions on

behalf of the Applicant. It was no part of the Report to suggest

Addendum covering Applicant comments on Report.doc Page 1

Page 138



1.4

1.5

1.6

otherwise. These observations therefore do not alter the overall

conclusions in the Report.

Secondly, on the issue of a “significant number”, section 7 of the report
sets out the conclusions on this issue. The Report quoted at paragraph
7.1 the very passage in McAlpine cited by CRAG in their observations.
The conclusions were reached based upon it. It should be noted that
CRAG put their case on the basis of “a significant number the
inhabitants of any neighbourhood within a locality”'. The
neighbourhood being The Cowley Estate — a matter which at 5.23 I
found in their favour. I also expressed the view that the Locality is the

Civil Parish of Ecclesfield — again finding in their favour.

Whether the significant number is looked at on the basis of the
neighbourhood (The Cowley Estate) or the wider locality (The Civil
Parish of Ecclesfield) my conclusion would remain the same. As stated
at 7.8(ii) where the evidence concerned unnamed and unrecognised
individuals it is of less weight as those individuals may well not have
been qualifying users — i.e. they may well have come from outside the
neighbourhood or locality. The burden of proof is on the applicant (see
4.5 of the Report). The evidence heard was insufficient to show the

land was in general use by the local community for informal recreation.

Thirdly, the Report addresses in detail the distinction between footpath
type use and LSP at section 6. It acknowledges that certain use which
involves footpaths may be classed as LSP as opposed to footpath use.
The observations made by CRAG do not alter the overall conclusions

in section 6.

' See paragraphs 11 — 14 of the *Outline Legal Submissions on behalf of the Applicant™ and
paragraphs 12-16 of their closing submissions.

Addendum covering Applicant comments on Report doc Page 2
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1.7 Thus neither individually nor in their totality do the observations made
by CRAG alter the findings in the Report nor the reasoning upon which

those findings are based.

Richard Ground

28 August 2015

Cornerstone Barristers
2-3 Gray's Inn Square
London WC1R 5JH.
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